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Behind bars, Melvin Williams still a ghetto legend

‘Avenue’ hustler
called heroin czar

By David Simon
He was West Baltimore's man-

child, quick-witted and calculating, a
prodigy from the Pennsylvania Ave-

‘EASY MONEY’
ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

First of five parts

nue pool halls and juke joints, where
the hustler's game was played night
after night.

“Scraps,” they called him — a ref-
erence to his sawed-off appearance
and a willingness to fight that made
up for it. But Melvin Douglas Wil-
liams acquired another title, one
that held fast during his 30-year war
with the police and prosecutors of
Baltimore.

Ask beat cops and detectives
about Little Melvin and they'll speak
of a man who revolutionized Balti-
more’'s drug culture in the 1960s,
marketing heroin in vast quantities,
seeding an industry that now
grosses more than $1 million a day
in heroin sales alone and is thought
to be responsible for 25 percent to
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Melvin Williams, in Lewisburg prison, says his ﬁppcal will succeed.

30 percent of the city’s homicides.

1t 1s Melvin Willlams, they will tell
you, whose reputation and authority
cross state lines, who has set the
standard for West Baltimore's nar-
cotics traffickers, In New York, au-
thorities contend, Willilams’ word on
behalf of a Baltimore buyer can open
doors to the narcotics importers who
supply the East Coast.

But speak of Little Melvin to the
man’s friends and supporters — or
to Willlams himself, who staunchly
maintains his innocence from be-
hind the walls of a federal peniten-
tiary — and you will hear the story
of a self-made survivor, a shrewd
gambler and businessman who cre-

.ated power and money in a ghetto

where neither existed.

It was Willlams' wealth and suc-
cess, they contend — his ability to
pay his bills “too fast and too far in
advance” — that first earned him
the enmity of white prosecutors and
police officers, as well as the unwel-
come mantle of Baltimore's arche-
typical underworld figure.

And still the law pursues him,
even as Willlams, 45, marks time on
a 34-year sentence for a third nar-
cotics conviction and parole viola-
tion. For two years, federal prosecu-
tors here have conducted a lengthy
ir.vestigation of Willlams' allsged
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Imprisoned ‘Little Melvin
remains a ghetto legend

WILLIAMS, from 1A

drug connections and financtal empire.

Prompted in part by suspicions that Wil-
llams may still be controlling his organiza-
tion from prison, that investigation, al-
though repeatedly stalled by manpower
problems, remains open in the hope that
Willlams' assets can be seized and more
time added to his sentence, according to fed-
eral law enforcement sources.

Court files, police records, the yellowed
pages of old newspapers — residue of a life
spent in unwavering pursuit of an easy dol-
lar — are littered with conflicting images of
the same man:

Little Melvin the Gambler, a teen-age
shark, playing the angles to perfection in the
Avenue pool halls, clearing rack after rack
against older, more experienced players. Or
Little Melvin the Gangster, allegedly waving
a machine gun in a Mount Street bar and
threatening, llke Cagney on the screen, to
shoot everyone in the joint.

And yet only days prior to that incident,
ne was hailed as Little Melvin the Citizen,
speaking at the request of National Guard
officials during the 1968 riots, urging a rest-
less crowd to go home. In later years, he
would recast himself as a successful busi-
nessman and realty investor who rolled
through westside streets in a $52,000 Mas-
erati and took private lessons on a $17,000
plano.

It is legend rooted in an appalling reality,
according to drug enforcement officlals who
struggle in a city deluged with an estimated
25,000 heroin addicts and perhaps three
times that number of cocaine users. To
them, the saga of Melvin Williams is a recur-
ring nightmare.

As early as 1968, a Baltimore judge called
him “a big fish in the nefarious traffic of slow
death,” sentencing him to a 12-year prison
term in a drug case in which evidence may
well have been fabricated by officers frus-
trated at their inability to bring Willlams
down. Seven years later, a federal judge said
some equally unkind things and handed him
a 15-year sentence.

But that was preamble,

By the government’'s account, Williams
spent the first half of this decade construct-
Ing one of this city’s most sophisticated drug
rings. He was insulated — a step above the
wiretaps, the government informants, the
survelilance that had ensnared him in the
past, authorities contend.

Willlams had mastered the lessons of his
earlier convictions, according to detectives,
who saw their arsenal reduced to unlimited
patience and occasional good luck as they
worked their way through the lower rungs of
an elaborate organization. It would be nearly
two years before they would reach Willlams’

doorstep, armed with warrants, in Decem-
ber 1984,

“We're tired of him,” says John N. Prevas,
a city judge who until recently directed the
narcotics unit of the state's attorney's office.
“That’s why we want life without parole.”

During lengthy interviews at the federal
penitentiary in Lewisburg, Pa., Williams de-
nied the government's accusations, predict-
ing a successful appeal of his recent con-
viction and the collapse of the government's
continuing probe.

“Not even in any remote sense do | adhere
to being involved” in narcotics, Willlams
says. “I'm not ducking and hiding and vacil-
lating about it.”

But Williams declined to respond publicly
in any further detail while the government's
probe remains open, saying simply that his
defense would be made in court, and that
ne\ﬁrspaper accounts had never served him
well,

An imperious, intelligent man who
chooses words with care, Melvin Willlams
refuses to be stercotyped. Street sales of nar-
cotics were routinely punctuated by murder-
ous violence, but Willlams was a family
man, devoted to an 11-year marriage and
two young daughters.

He kept a well-furnished Reservoir Hill
home, where he dabbled with Apple and
Commodore computers, or a large-screen
television fed from a satellite dish In the
back yard. And as a vegetarian and health
enthusiast, Willlams had no use for the
drugs he is alleged to have sold.

“I've never seen him with even a beer,”
said Tim Conway, a longtime friend. “He's
very proud of his body and his health,”

Friends and neighbors stand by him,
speaking of a man unaffected by wealth, a
man who kept close to his commuiilly, who

- cared for his elderly motiier and was a light
" touch when someone needed rent money or
. groceries. There are people who will tell you
about gifts of Thanksgiving turkeys, or city
playgrounds outfltted with new lights or bas-

* ketball nets.

“I'll tell you,” says Edward Colbert, a bail
bondsman and friend for 20 years, “If Melvin
Willlams had a nickel for all the times he's
helped people out, he'd be a wealthy man.”

Wealthier, perhaps.

Internal Revenue Service agents have al-
ready uncovered $500,000 of Williams' as-
sets that they say represents laundered nar-
cotics profits — and that figure, based only
on unreported income that agents were able
to document, is believed to be the iceberg's
tip. Willlams' financial empire includes,
among other assets, more than $600,000 in
real estate, an Edmondson Avenue night-

* club and an auto towing firm — all owned
by a company allegedly controlled by Wil-
liams.

Among the expenditures probed by feder-
al authorities: a contract indicating an al-
leged $50,000 down payment to former
state Sen. Clarence M. Mitchell IlIl, who was
involved in an effort to secure a government
loan for Willlams’ company.

Although Mr. Mitchell has told a federal
grand jury that he received only $5,000 from
Williams' company for legitimate consulting
work — a statement that Williams says is
accurate — the discovery of the contract
has prompted a lengthy spinoff investigation
of the former legislator.

Still, most of Willlams' money — conser-
vative estimates range in the millions of dol-
lars — has eluded authorities: “It could be in
a bank account, or out of the country,”

muses Baltimore City Detective Edward
Burns. “For all we know, it might be burled
somewhere up on Park Avenue.”

In five articles beginning today. The Sun
looks at Melvin Willtams, his alleged role in
Baltimore's lucrative drug trade and the ex-
traordinary investigative effort that returned
him to a federal penitentiary.

In addition to conversations with Wil-
liams, these articles were compiled from
court records, police reports, financtal state-
ments and other documents dating from the
late 1950s to the present, as well as nearly
100 interviews with law enforcement offi-
clals, attorneys, community leaders, friends
and acquaintances of Melvin Willlams.

“He always wins”

He couldn't have been older than 13 or
14 when Tim Conway first met him. It was a
weekend dance at the YMCA on Druid Hill
Avenue, and the hall was crowded. Before
long, someone shoved someone else and two
older boys were squartng off.

“And this tiny thing came out of nowhere,
he couldn’t have been more than 4 feet,”
recalled Mr. Conway, a supervisor with the
city’'s Urban Services Agency who has
known Willlams for 30 years. “He got be-
tween these two kids who were both twice
his size, talking fast, cracking jokes. . . ."

Mr. Conway expected to see the runt
punched senseless, but in minutes, both
combatants were laughing and shaking
hands.

“It was a real performance,” added Mr.
Conway, who remembers asking someone
for the younger boy's name. “Everyone al-
ready knew him. He was already Little Mel-
vin.”

Melvin Douglas Williams was born Dec.
14, 1941, the son of a cabdriver and a hospi-
tal nursing aide. His childhood was ordinary
enough — stable home, capable student —
hardly the makings of an inveterate heroin
dealer.

“He wasn't bad in school, better than
average,” said Howard J. Gittings, a city po-
lice officer and classmate at the old Garnet
Elementary School on Division Street. “I've
always thought he could have done anything
he put his mind to.”

Williams even mustered into the old
Western Police Boys Club. An organizer at
the recreation hall, Sgt. James Dixon, re-
membered that “like every other kid, Melvin
paid his 50 cents and got a junior police
badge.”

But other influences were stronger. Wil-
liams’ family lived on the second floor of a
red-brick rowhouse in the 1400 block of
Madison Avenue — four blocks from the
neon strip that was the economic and cul-
tural pulse of Baltimore's black community
in the 1950s and '60s.

Pennsylvania Avenue was a natural
temptation for Willlams, and the pool par-
lors and taverns clustered in the 1400 and
1500 blocks became his playground. Under-
sized and underaged, he was soon hustling
his elders in billiard games and back-alley
crap shoots,

“I must have seen him play a hundred
times in those pool halls,” recalled retired

«city police Lt. Joseph Judd, who spent much
of his career working vice and gambling on
the Avenue. “I never saw him lose.”

Another retired officer, Col. James H.
Watkins, remembered pulling Willlams from
an Avenue pool hall and dragging him
home. Then a sergeant, Mr. Watkins pulled
a wad of cash from the boy's pocket and
asked Dorothy Willlams if she knew her son
was betting large amounts of money.

“She told me, 'l give him money to play.
He always wins,’ " Mr. Watkins said.

By all accounts, the youth absorbed and
perfected every hustle offered by the Avenue
regulars — street-sharpened men with
names like “Cherry Reds” Franklin or “Prop-
osition Joe" Johnson. They taught him how
to move loaded dice in and out of backroom
crap shoots, or how to anticipate a series of
shots in a game of one-pocket.

These were valuable lessons in a commu-
nity largely ignored by the city’s legitimate
economy. West Baltimore, then as now, was
poor and predominantly black, a row house
ghetto in a segregated city. In such sur-
roundings, many of the men who displayed
any wealth at all were those who lived be-
yond the law, and the Avenue was home toa
grewing fraternity of numbers backers,
gamblers, narcotics brokers, pimps and
holdup men.

A minor vice in comparison, the sports-
man’s life provided Willlams with steady
cash — friends say he could earn thousands
in a single night. The money and reputation
also brought a following,

“He was like the Pied Piper,” said Andre
Street, a Baltimore police sergeant who as a
boy knew the older Willlams. “He had money
and style and the kids looked up to him. It
was always, 'Did you hear what Little Mel-
vin did today?" "

But there was a darker side.

Although Willlams was transferred from
Douglass High School to City College be-
cause of his aptitude, he dropped out of the
11th grade. At 21, he had been arrested 10
times on charges including disorderly con-
duct, auto theft, assault and handgun viola-
tions. Most of the cases were dismissed or
resulted In probation and, in all, the young
Willlams spent less than two months in jail,
according to arrest reports.

“He was a little thug,” sald one West Balti-
more resident, a 62-year-old city employee
who asked not to be identified. “He and his
buddies would ride around in cars looking
for fights. They were like gangsters.”

The woman recalled a March 1959 inci-
dent in which her 17-year-old son was beat-
en by Willlams and his friends after refusing
to turn over some phonograph records as
tribute. Williams later was found guilty of
the assault and received a two-month sus-
pended sentence, although the conviction
was overturned on appeal, according to
court records.

“His father came over and yelled at me for
pressing charges against his boy,” the wom-
an recalled. “I told him, ‘Mister, your son is
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Melvin Willlams:
a scrapbook
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going down as far as he can go.

A “talked-about figure”

The photo file is something of a relic now,
the mug shots dated by porkpie hats, tab
collars and an occasfonal neon-luminous
sports jacket, two-tone perhaps, with thin
lapels. The faces are arranged like a year-
book, alphabetically, staring from brittle
pages with sullen, practiced indifference.

Pennsylvania Avenue. The Class of '64.

It took only a few short years for cheap
Turkish heroin, once a jazzman's exotic
vice, to course {ts way through the nation’s
cities, fusing with the rage and hopelessness
of urban slums, creating new legions of in-
ner-city addicts.

By the late 1960s, city prosecutors and
narcotics detectives were simply lost in the
flood, and this, their intelligence file, re-
mains as a portrait study of the disaster.
These were the men who gambled, or
pimped, or wrote numbers, then turned to
the new industry, nurturing it with $5 caps
of heroin, changing the city forever.

Every picture tells a story.

Broad-faced Charllie Burman was halted
by a lengthy prison term. So were “"Gangster”
Webster and “Big Lucille” Wescott, a former
prostitute whose 250-pound carriage was
peaked by a garish blond wig. Walter Kidd
was shot down in a crowded Avenue bar,
and Butch Stamford followed him a few
months later. Execution-style slayings later
claimed Elfjah Davis and Charles “Squeaky”
Jordan, just as gunfire ended the lives of
“Proposition Joe" Johnson and Joe Perry —
the former a consummate gambler who once
tutored Little Melvin, the latter a boyhood
friend of Williams regarded by police as his
most devoted lleutenant.

Williams' photograph appears in the last
pages of the file, the lapels of his sportcoat
tight against his shoulders, a stylish black
brim balanced loosely on his head, blank
eyes glaring outward. A survivor.

At 22, Little Melvin had become a misno-
mer. According to police reports, Williams
was 5 feet 11, having picked up 5 inches
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and 50 pounds since his 18th birthday. He
had married a svelte 15-year-old schoolgiri,
Katie Bigelow, who lived on nearby Calhoun
Street.

Most important, according to the detec-
tives, Willlams had earned a place in their
photo file, establishing himself among the
early pioneers in the westside drug trade.

Prosecutors would later claim that Wil-
liams was the first local dealer to establish
direct ties to the legendary Frank “Pee Wee"
Matthews, New York's largest heroin im-
porter, whose flash and style were said to
inspire the 1972 counterculture film “Su-
perfly.”

DEA agents believed Matthews to be the
first black narcotics dealer to establish ties
to overseas heroin sources independent of
New York's Cosa Nostra families. Melvin
Williams, in turn, became “the man with the
New York connection,” according to federal
prosecutors here.

Williams' supporters deny that he was
directly involved in narcotics, conceding on-
ly that his sorties as a gambler brought him
into contact with a cast of characters worthy
of indictment. Nonetheless, they contend
that Williams himself had no need for drug
money.

“As good a gambler as he was," asks Mr.
Colbert, the bail bondsman, "why would he
need to get involved with all that?”

By that argument, the attention Willlams
received from the city’s drug squad stemmed
not from criminal behavior, but from his
money and style. Police officers, long retired,
still recall routine rousts in which they
would find $5,000 or more in Williams’
pockets.

“He could be arrogant,” recalled one for-
mer federal narcotics agent, who asked not
to be identifted. “It used to burn the cops up,
the way he behaved sometimes.”

Williams had indeed arrived.

Described by the Baltimore Afro-Ameri-
can as “the most talked-about Avenue figure
in years,” he dressed sharp, drove a new
Cadillac and alternately identified himself
on police reports as a nightclub owner or
vice president of a Wilmington, Del., con-
struction firm — impressive titles for a man
with no reported income or apparent hours
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Flotsam and jetsam from a career
(from upper left): The 26-year-old
'Williams as a dapper Avenue
sportsman in a 1967 police portrait;
a 1959 arrest report charging an
underaged and undersized Williams
with hanging in an Avenue poo! hall;
Pennsylvania Avenue in 1969, at
the end of its heyday as the
economic pulse of West Baltimore's
black community; Williams at the
federal penitentiary in Lewisburg,
Pa., where he is currently serving
a 34-year sentence for narcotics
charges and a parole violation.
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of employment. He was partial to full-length
fur coats and a custom-made ring that fea-
tured 15 large diamonds, positioned like bil-
liard balls inside a table rack.

Willlams' friends, as well as police, recall
one pivotal nlght when Little Melvin hit the
number on a $100 ticket — a bet that paid
more than $60,000. Willlams immediately
called Julius “The Lord" Salsbury, a protege
of New York underworld figure Meyer Lan-
sky, who had bequeathed Salsbury the Balti-
more rackets. Williams wanted his money.

By some accounts, Salshury balked, and
Willams and two gunmen drove down to
The Block and charged into Salsbury’s Oasls
Club, where they were greeted by four or flve
of the Lord's lieutenants, berated by Salsbu-
ry, and forced to leave Baltimore Street with-
out the money.

But others say that the confrontation has
been exaggerated, that the debt was paid in
time, and that Willlams and Salsbury —
still a fugitive after fleeing the country and a
15-year racketeering sentence in 1970 —
began a lasting friendship.

Police have always believed the alliance
with Salsbury went deeper. Following his
success with the lottery, investigators be-
lieve, Willlams acquired knowledge about
money laundering and finances, and IRS
agents Involved in the current probe have
discovered Willlams still has financial ties to
former Salsbury associates.

Into the courts

On a summer afternoon in August 1966,
a gunman walked up to a 35-year-old nar-
cotics addict, Danny Jacobs, on a crowded
Avenue corner and demanded money owed
to him. Before Jacobs could answer, he was
shot. The gunman then walked away.

Police Commissioner Bishop L. Robinson,
then a sergeant with the narcotics squad.
interviewed an uncooperative Jacobs at
Provident Hospital. After repeated question-
ing, the victim named Melvin Willlams as
the assailant. “But he told me then that he
didn't think he would get to court to testify,"

See WILLIAMS, 15A, Col. 1
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‘Little Melvin’ pursued even behind bars for suspected heroin-empire millions

WILLIAMS, from 14A

Mr. Robinson recalled. “He thought he’d be
killed.”

Jacobs did make it to the District Court
arraignment, where he promptly declared
that Melvin Willlams was not the man who
shot him. Charges were dismissed, although
the incident was one of several that estab-
lished Williams’ reputation as a dangerous
man ~— a reputation that remains largely
unproven.

Similar efforts to substantiate Willlams®
ties to the narcotics trade met with less suc-
cess.

Willlams was not a drug user and he was
shrewd enough to keep the merchandise at
arm's length, detectives contended, believ-
ing instead that loyal Heutenants, many of
them boyhood friends, handled the heroin.
Telephone taps and body wires — soon
common to drug investigations — were
cumbersome and rarely used two decades

It wasn't until March 1967 that authori-
ties, using a New York {nformant to make an
alleged hand-to-hand heroin buy from Wii-

ltams, were able to construct a case — a.

case that many police officers and Avenue
regulars believed was manufactured by frus-
trated narcotics detectives. (See related arti-
cle.)

Nonetheless, Willlams was returned to
the Avenue on bail, with his gambler’s luck
and reputation seemingly intact. In April
1968, as rioters were burning the inner city
after the assassination of the Rev. Martin
Luther King Jr., he provided a glimpse of his
prestige.

At the request of civil defense officials,
Willtams stood on a bench at Pennsylvania
Avenue and Mosher Street and told a rest-
less crowd to go home: “It's all over with.
There will be no more rioting,” Willlams
said, adding that “there are certain individu-
als who aren't doctors or lawyers, but they
can tell the kids what to do.”

Willlams' declarations were applauded
and the crowd began to break up. The next
day, Williams appeared with National Guard
Gen. George Gelston in a front-page photo in
the News American. “Members of Negro
community offer to quell disorder in the in-
ner city,” read the caption.

But again, a darker side: Willlams is
charged eight days later with terrorizing pa-
trons of a Mount Street bar with a subma-
chine gun, an incident stemming from a dis-
pute between Willlams and one customer,

* according to the account of an off-duty police
officer who was among those threatened.

“Are you looking for trouble? “I'll kill you
too,” Willlams told the officer, who inter-
vened when Willlams and three others alleg-
edly returned to the bar with a Thompson
submachine gun, according to police reports.

An enraged Willlams was convinced to
leave the bar by companions, and he surren-
dered the next day. according to reports.
Again he made balil, and court records indi-
cate that witnesses became reluctant to tes-
tify. The legal war resumed.

In July 1968, a city judge found Williams
guilty of the 1967 drug charges, but bail was
extended while the case was appealed. The
following March, he was charged with the
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News American. April 10, 1968: Williams, after calming a riotous crowd, stands next to National Guard Gen. George Gelston.

hand-to-hand sale of narcotics to a police
informant in an arrest that occurred as Wil-
llams enjoyed a front-row seat to a National
Basketball Association champlonship game
at the Civic Center, now the Baltimore Are-
na.

As in the machine gun case, the charges
in the high-profile Ctvic Center arrest were
eventually dropped, and Willlams’ attorneys
contended in court papers that the later
charges were again fabricated by police offl-
cers who wanted to see Willlams’ bail re-
voked.

If that was the Intent, it worked. Bail was
denied in March 1969 and the earlier drug
case was upheld the following month. Wil-
liams was ordered to begin his 12-year sen-
tence.

“At that point, I thought we were done
with him,” recalled James B. Dudley, the
assigtant state's attorney who prosecuted
the case. “I couldn't believe that once we had
finally made a case against him, they would
let him back on the street.”

But Willlams was in the Maryland Peni-
tentiary for only 20 months before a state
corrections officlal approved his transfer
first to the House of Correction, and then to
a pre-release camp two months later. In
1971, he passed the high-school equivalency
test with the top grade in his test group, and

was recommended as “a promising candl-
date for vocational rehabilitation.”

By June 1972, Willlams was in a work-
release program. In April 1973, he was pa-
roled.

“Undoubtedly a leader”

Audis Wells remembers standing outside
an Edmondson Avenue pool hall in the sum-
mer of 1974, trying to look bored as a federal
informant assured Melvin Williams that
Wells could be trusted.

A federal narcotics agent then assigned
to Baltimore, Agent Wells says he remem-
bers part of that conversation distinctly.

“The informant was saying he had
brought me along because I was okay,” re-
called the agent, who still serves with the

Enforcement Administration. Willlams
looked at Wells, then back at the informant.

“You shouldn’t bring strangers down
here,” Willlams said, according to Agent
Wells. “If something goes wrong, they got to
be killed.”

Williams was 31 when he emerged from
prison. Self-controlled and cautfous, he was
on the surface a changed man, less inclined
to claim the gangster-like reputation that
had brought him so much attention on the

Avenue. He no longer wished to be known
as Little Melvin, a name he regarded as de-
meaning, according to friends.

Instead, those he knew him called him
“Slim” or “Black,” the latter a reference to a
self-imposed dress code that often used only
one shade. He bought a pool hall in the 2100
block of Edmondson Avenue and that, too,
was painted black. Using an old nickname,
he chartered a corporation to operate the
pool hall: Scrapp Investment Corporation
Inc,

Willlams® wife, Katte, had divorced him in
1970 and was living with Bernard “Big Head
Brother” Lee, an arrangement, prosecutors
claimed, that provided Lee with the New
York pipeline to Frank Matthews. Lee be-
came Baltimore's largest dealer overnight.

It wasn't until early 1973 that Matthews
left center stage, jumping a $325,000 bail
and reportedly leaving the country with
millions in cash. In Baltimore, Brother Lee
and his flashy understudy, John E. “Liddie”
Jones, soon found themselves targets of a
new federal strike force.

Melvin Willlams had been paroled into an
empty marketplace,

In July 1973, he gathered a dozen young-
er dealers together in a Reisterstown Road
motel room to organize a new heroin ring,
according to court records. As always, detec-
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tives contend, Willlams distanced himself
from the drugs, and would discuss narcotics
only with members of his own ring. Police
later discovered that deliveries were made by
lieutenants, who would leave the heroinona
ledge atop city phone booths.

But by January 1974, the agents had
made cases against two street dealers and
turned them into informants. Agent Wells
gained the confldence of 22-year-old Glen M.
Hawkins, a man later described as Willlams'
chief lieutenant and enforcer, by attending a
YMCA karate class taught by Hawkins.

Agent Wells and the informants made 10
purchases from Hawkins and others totaling
four kilograms of heroin, according to court
records. But efforts to get close to Willlams
ended when Agent Wells allegedly heard
Williams talk about killing interlopers.

Implicated through taped conversations
with the informants, Willlams was charged
along with seven underlings {n a September
1974 indictment.

The informants themselves were terrified
— one almost broke down when told he was
to enter the pool hall wearing a body wire,
DEA Agent William Miller recalled. And as
Williams' trial date approached, one key wit-
ness fled rather than testify.

But Williams, facing a possible 120-year
sentence, accepted a plea bargain against
the advice of his attorney, according to court
records. The agreement in February 1975
dropped some of the charges in exchange for
a no-contest plea, and required prosecutors
to arrange a marriage ceremony at the City
Jall for Willlams and Mary S. Rogers, a 31-
year-old teacher's aide.

In March 1975, Williams was sentenced
to 15 years, and Hawkins to nine years.
Four others received lesser sentences.

“You are undoubtedly a leader,” U.S.
Judge Alexander Harvey Il told Willlams,
“and I only hope that when you come out of
prison, you will use your leadership quali-
ties” for legitimate purposes.

Willlams went to prison cells in Lewlis-
burg and Atlanta before returning to Balti-
more {n November 1979, having served five
years of his sentence. Those who saw him
after the parole were told that the game was
over.

“He said he had learned his lesson and
that he had nothing more to do with drugs,”
sald Officer Gittings, who ran into his old
classmate at an Edmondson Avenue auto
garage. “He said he was doing well with his
club and his [tow] trucks.”

But law enforcement officials were unim-
pressed, and the decision of the federal pa-
role commission — whose deliberations re-
main secret because of federal privacy
statutes — 1s still a sore point.

“No one has adequately explained to me
why he was released,” sald Judge Prevas.
“I've always believed there was something
wrong there.”

Tomorrow in The Sun: The war contin-
ues. Police and prosecutors contend that
Williams learned the lessons of his earlier
arrests and used trusted lieutenants, so-
phisticated communications and fraudu-
lent finances to insulate himself in the
drug trade — allegations that Williams
would later deny in court.
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Doubts persist about Williams’ 1967 drug bust

By David Simon

George Shaheen remembers pulling the
.38-caliber Smith & Wesson from beneath
the passenger seat. He remembers Melvin
Willlams handcuffed by the side of the car.
He remembers watching Baltimore police
Sgt. Lawrence Wineke push his hand into
Willlams' coat pocket and come out with 16
capsules of heroin.

“Right then, he started yelling that the
drugs were planted,” recalled Mr. Shaheen, a
former federal narcotics agent now with the
Internal Revenue Service. “He got mad and
started fighting and we had to get him under
control.”

Mr. Shaheen said he was standing next
to Sergeant Wineke when the search began
at Brunt and McMechen streets, and “the
way | remember, [the sergeant’s] hands were
clean when they went in and dirty when
they came out.”

Others aren’t as sure.

From interviews with surviving partici-
pants in the case, a second scenario emerges
— one in which narcotics detectives, frus-
trated at their inability to make a case
against a suspected drug dealer, fabricated
evidence.

Most of the federal agents and prosecu-
tors involved in the 1967 arrest of Melvin
Willlams call it a good bust, although they
say they can recall few detalls of the case.

But at least one of the agents involved
concedes — 19 years later — that invest{-
gators were never sure of the evidence that
provided the probable cause to arrest Wil-
lfams. In addition, a second source involved
with the case also provided details that raise
questions about the arrest itself.

The former narcotics agent, who request-
ed anonymity, also said that the heroin pro-
duced by Sergeant Wineke during his search
of Williams was, to his knowledge, planted
to ensure the success of the case.

“What you have to understand is how
bad the Baltimore police wanted that boy,”
the former agent said. “He was young, and
he was pretty brazen. The attitude was, if he
was doing bad, he was going to pay the
price.”

O

The arrest of Melvin Willlams on April
13, 1967, marked the first time police were
able to bring drug charges against a man
who had achieved almost mythic status
among the hustlers, dopers and gamblers
who inhabited the 1400 and 1500 blocks of
Pennsylvania Avenue.

The difference was a man named Joseph

Joe Miles, alias Joe Murray, was a 36-
year-old professional informant facing
charges in a New York narcotics case. Miles
had contacts in several cities and, in ex-
change for his freedom, offered to work with
the Federal Bureau of Narcotics (predecessor
to the Drug Enforcement Administration) to
set up some Baltimore dealers.

On March 8, 1967, at the bar of the Ave-
nue Musical Lounge, Miles proved true to his
word. He sat on a stool next to Melvin Wil-
liams and supposedly exchanged $700 for
22 grams of heroin.

Using a pay phone in the lounge, Miles
had called Willlams twice at a pool hall a
block away and asked him to come by the
bar. Williams showed up « short time later
and an undercover agent sitting on the other
side of the bar purportedly saw Williams
pass a white paper envelope or package to
Miles, according to court testimony.

Wiiliams then left the bar by the front
door. An undercover agent watched Miles
walk out a side door, where he handed the
envelope unopened to a walting agent, ac-
cording to testimony. Although Willlams al-
legedly recetved $700 in marked money, he
was not stopped as he left the bar.

The incident provided agents with proba-
ble cause to obtain warrants that were exe-
cuted that April afternoon when Willlams
was driving his Cadillac near his home.

In addition to the gun recovered by Agent
Shaheen and the capsules allegedly discov-
ered in Willlams' pocket during the arrest,
Sergeant Wineke reached under the driver's
seat of the car and emerged with a little
more than nine grams of heroin.

By that version, the case against Little
Melvin was textbook drug enforcement. And
when Judge Anselm Sodaro considered the
case, he belleved that account, sentencing
the 26-year-old Williams to a 12-year prison
term.

But consider:

O An FBI lab report indicates that the
only fingerprints found on the heroin alleg-
edly sold to Miles in the Avenue bar were
those of Miles himself. Moreover, those
prints were lifted from two glassine enve-
lopes that were inside the sealed white en-
velope that Miles had allegedly handed un-
opened to a federal agent, according to testi-
mony.

“How did Joe Miles' prints get in the inte-
rior of that envelope unless he himself
packed it?" asked one source involved in the
case.

0O The arresting officer, Sergeant Wineke,
was not called to testify by the government
during the circuit court trial in July 1968.
By that time, Lawrence Wineke had already
been barred from the witness stand by at
least one Baltimore judge because of fraudu-
lent testimony.

Moreover, the sergeant was under inves-
tigation by a grand jury looking into police
corruption. On Jan. 27, 1969, just before he
was to testify before a grand jury, he shot
and killed himself.

In addition, a second federal narcotics
agent involved in the Williams case was lat-
er transferred to New York and subsequent-
ly convicted of threatening to fabricate evi-
dence against a narcotics suspect unless he
received a cash payment.

0 Joe Miles also did not appear to testify

at the trial, and only the federal agent who
allegedly witnessed the transaction testified
that the heroin Miles brought out of the bar
came from Willlams.

But now that same agent, who asked not
to be identified, concedes that he never saw
the white envelope actually change hands.

“We searched [Miles] when he went in
and we searched him when he came out,”
the agent recalled. “He had 8700 when he
went in, he met with Melvin, and he had the

e when he came out.”

But, added the agent, “if you're asking if
Miles could have had the dope under the bar
or under a stool, the answer is yes. It might
have come from Melvin . . . he walked down
there and met the man. Then again, Miles
was a snake who was getting paid to make
the case.”

O According to both Williams and an in-
dependent source involved in the case, Wil-
liams called his attorney, Milton B. Allen,
several days befare the April arrest and indi-
cated that a police source had warned him
that a warrant had been issued for his ar-
rest. More importantly, the source said, Wil-
ltams called Mr. Allen on April 13 about an
hour before the arrest and search by Ser-
geant Wineke.

Williams told his attorney that he had
looked out a window at his home in the
1400 block of Madison Avenue and spotted
men he knew as narcotics agents about a
block away, Willlams and the source both
recalled.

The source said that Mr. Allen asked if
Willlams had any narcotics in his posses-
sion, or in his house or automobile. His cli-
ent told him he did not. A short time later,
Willlams left his home and drove two or
three blocks before being stopped and ar-
rested.

“Now if he made that call, why would he
go out of his house holding heroin?” asked
the source, who requested anonymity.

Narcotics detectives who worked on
Pennsylvania Avenue during the late 1960s
concede privately that there was some skep-
ticism about the case against Little Melvin.

“It was pretty well known along the Ave-
nue that Melvin didn't carry drugs himself,
that his lieutenants would do that,” said one
former detective. And because electronic
surveillance had not yet been perfected as
an investigative tool, “He was always a step
ahead.”

Moreover, there has never been any indi-
cation that Willams ever used narcotics
himself, and therefore no reason that he
would be holding 16 caps of heroin in his
coat pocket — a rather paltry amount for
someone alleged to be a large dealer.

“There was just a lot of bad stuff going on
back then,” said another former detective,
now a high-ranking police official. “Lots of*
arrests where the report would say that a
bag of heroin was found on the sidewalk
next to the suspect, if you know what I
mean.”
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For his part, Williams testified at trial
that on the day of his arrest, Sergeant Wi-
neke walked up to him, put a fist in Wil-
liams' left jacket pocket and came out with
the capsules. The sergeant, Williams
claimed, didn't even bother to check his oth-
er pockets. As for Joe Miles, Williams testi-
fied that he knew him to be an informant as
early as 1964.

Mr. Allen, Willlams' attorney who later
served as city state’s attorney and recently
retired as a circuit court judge, declined to
comment publicly on the 1967 charges
against Willlams.

Joe Miles is unavatilable for comment. His
career, which included 22 arrests in 20
years, ended in a drug-related double slaying
in a New Orleans apartment building Sept.
6, 1973.

One final note: According to a source
close to the case, Williams' attorney, Mr.
Allen, repeatedly urged his client to seek
trial by a jury, which might be more easily
swayed by the FBI fingerprint report and
Willfams' testimony about prior knowledge
of the warrant. But Williams insisted that
the verdict be made by a judge, the source
recalled.

On the afternoon of July 3, 1968, as
Judge Sodaro considered the evidence and
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SUN GRAPHICS

prepared the verdict, a confident Melvin Wil-
liams passed out cigars to celebrate an ex-
pected victory. When the guiity verdict was
announced, “Melvin was stunned. He just
stood there trying to take it in,” said the
source, who was present in the packed
courtroom.

The source claimed that a sadder-but-
wiser Willlams later told him that he had
given $6,500 to Robert “Fifi" London, a local
bail bondsman and numbers kingpin who
died several years ago. Willlams said London
was going to set the case right for him, the
source said.

Judge Sodaro, now retired, sald he was
never approached by anyone attempting to
influence his decision in the Wiiliams case.

Indeed, Fifi London probably had no
plans to bribe a judge. As a betting man,
London would have simply been wagering
that Willlams would beat the charge and
that the payment could be pocketed. After
the verdict, Williams told the source, the
$6,500 was returned without complaint.

In retrospect, perhaps the Fifl London
story is meant to be apocryphal. After all, if
the case against Willlams was indeed a
frame, then the tale provides a perfect mor-
al:

One good fix deserved another.
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Loyal underlings insulated Williams

Ring members called
him ‘Dad,’ police say

By David Simon

Any good gambler understands
this mathematical certainty: No
matter how high you stack the odds
in your favor, no matter how well
you master the game, if you play
long enough — letting your money
ride — you will eventually lose.

Melvin Willlams, in the minds of
those pursuing him, could not walk
away from the table.

a

Heroin and cocaine arrive in Bal-
timore in kilos, south by plane or car
from New York and New Jersey, or

‘EASY MONEY’
ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

Second of five parts

north from Florida and other Gulf
points. Some slips through local air-
ports, concealed in cigarette cartons
or hollowed-out boot heels.

The courlers — “mules” — are
well-paid veterans unlikely to deal
with authorities if arrested. And if a
courier does cooperate, he or she can
often provide police with nothing
more than an address or nickname
of a low-level contact.

Drug enforcement officlals con-
tend that for the first half of this
decade, many of those mules ended
their journey in meotel rooms or
cheap apartments, in the company
of men who served Melvin Williams.

In court affidavits and testimony
during detention hearings, authori-
ties describe a narcotics organiza-
tion so large — detectives identified
more than 200 street dealers alleg-
edly supplied by various lieutenants
-— that it was purchasing narcotics
from several importers and con-
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Surveillance photo, October 12, 1984 (above):

Detectives wait and watch from the north side
of East North Avenue as Lamont “Chin" Farmer
and a female companion wait for a call ata

LY
Guilford Avenue phone booth (arrow). Identified

BALTO, POLICE

by police as one of Melvin Williams' top

lieutenants, Farmer (right) used an elaborate
system of pay phones, contact beepers and
organizational codes to avoid court-ordered

wiretaps and keep federal agents at bay.
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2-9-ny )
154-35)

stantly looking for new, more lucra-
tive connections.

Wholesale exchanges of narcotics
were carefully controlled, according
to detectives, with Willlams repre-
sented by tested lieutenants such as
Glen Hawkins or Kenny “Bird” Jack-
son — men identified in court pa-
pers as Willlams’ most trusted sur-
rogates, men who allegedly had the
authority and knowledge to carry
large amounts of cash and make
purchases without being cheated.

The loyalty of such leutenants
was unquestioned, and Willtams’
authority was absolute, detectives
say. Hawkins, in particular, had
gone to prison with Willlams in 1975
and was once described by a govern-
ment informant as Willtams' “right
arm and legs,” according to court
records.

SUN GRAPHICS

When Hawkins was sentenced a
second time in March 1985, a de-
fense attorney would declare that
his 33-year-old client viewed Wil-
llams as “the only real father-figure
he ever knew.” Hawkins, who was
acquitted on a 1974 murder charge
and later served time on federal
weapons charges, was known by
many as “Young-un,” a nickname
bestowed by Williams,

Some subordinates regarded
themselves as members of an ex-
tended family, according to detec-
tives, with rank-and-file members
adopting Willlams' all-black dress
code. Late in thelr investigation, po-
lice were startled to hear even senior
members of the ring referring to Wil-
llams as “Dad.”

See WILLIAMS, 6A, Col. 1

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.




Melvin Williams stakes
future on legal appeals

‘WILLIAMS, from 1A

Such devotion allowed Williams to keep

his distance. police contend.
“ He never discussed business on his home
or nightclub phones, relying instead on tele-
phone contact beepers and pay phones to
avold wiretaps while communicating with
lieutenants. On one occasion, police say.
Williams became enraged when a mid-level
narcotics broker — who was then serving
time at a Jessup prison — called him at
home to discuss business.

Surveillance was also a problem.

Delective Harry Edgerton recalls one fall
1934 stakeout in which he was behind the
wheel of an unmarked car, more than a
block from Williams' Edmondson Avenue
nightclub.

“And out comes Melvin, talking with
somebody.” the detective says. “He doesn’t
know me at all, and I'm way up the block.
But he takes a quick look at me, and his
antennas go up . . . like he can smeil police.”

Detectives believe there was no reason”

for Williams to go near the narcotics. After
purchase, the uncut product was brought to
a stash house — a row house basement, a
vacant apartment — then cut with manni-
tol, procaine or other diluents and sent to
the street in small quantities to meet de-
mand.

“That way,” explained Detective Edward
Burns, “if someone gets picked up by police
or ripped off by a holdup man, you only lose
one or two packages.”

The money came back through the lieu-
tenants, who made regular collections from
street-level dealers, ensuring that no one
messed up the money or product. When
Hawkins was finally arrested in December
1984, police found more than $5,000 in his
wallet. The bills had been manicured —
stacked by denomination and held by rub-
ber bands.

“Like he was ready to turn in the day's
receipts,” said Detective Edgerton.

They were the biggest obstacles, as far as
police were concerned, these men who stood
between Williams and the street: Hawkins,
Jackson and a 33-year-old innovator named
Lamont “Chin” Farmer.

Farmer represented a new generation of
narcotics dealers in this city. His older
brother, Elwood, had been a contemporary
of Willlams, a heroin user with a police rec-
ord. The younger Lamont, however, was un-
known to authorities.

And yet since 1979, Chin Farmer had
been selling heroin and cocaine, according
to detectives, and the profits had made him
part-owner of an East North Avenue print
shop and an auto towing firm.

Among the street-learned West Baltimore
dealers, Farmer was something of a scholar,
who had been attending business courses at
an area college and doing well. At one point,
police taped a phone conversation in which
a dazed Elwood Farmer was lectured by his
younger brother on such heady concepts as
free-market forces and maximized profits.

Cautious and deliberate, Farmer sub-
scribed to legal journals that kept him
up-to-date on recent court decisions in crim-
inal law. And when conducting business, he
would drive for miles, changing directions
repeatedly to prevent surveillance:

“I'll tel) you something else, man, 1 had
over 100,000 miles on my car from '80,"
Farmer told a government informant during
a late 1984 drug buy. "And most of it be
doing this here.”

On one occasion, detectives trailed Farm-
er to a location where they believed he was
to pick up a drug shipment. But as Farmer
finished a conversation in a pay phone, the

- police helicopter, responding to an unrelated
call, appeared overhead for a few moments.

That was enough for Farmer: “He looked
up, got back in his car and was gone," said
Detective Edgerton.

It was Farmer who developed the com-
plex communications system that used con-
tact beepers and pay phones to conduct
business in a way that would avoid Lele-
phoge wiretaps.

“Melvin's genius was that he recognized
how sharp Chin Farmer was," said Detective
Burns. “I think he saw this guy as the com-
ing thing, and he grabbed him."

Farmer had his own sources of supply for
New York heroin, and police later discovered
his ties to a small, but well-connected Balti-
more drug ring operated by Louis "Cookiec”
Savage, a dealer with cocaine ties reaching
directly to Miami and the Dominican Repub-
lic. Savage had been selling cocaine since
the late 1970s, and his name had surfaced
as a suspect in a 1979 drug murder, but no
drug enforcement agency had a file on him.

“Everyone knows Melvin,” said Detective
Burns. "But with Farmer and Savage, they
could be on the corner in a group of guys,
and you wouldn't be able to pick them out as
major drug dealers. They weren't flashy.”

Farmer was branching out as well. With
his friend Savage, he was exploring the idea
of investment in the construction of a sports
complex in Nigeria, authorities learned. And
with another narcotics suspect, Farmer had
purchased and outfitted a Miami charter
boat in an attempt to secure a dircct connec-
tion to the unsurpassed moneymaker in the

. drug market — Latin American cocaine.

“We found that they were three separate
organizations — Willlams, Farmer and Sav-
age — that spiraled together,” explained
John N. Prevas, a city judge who until re-
cently headed the narcotics unit of the
state's attorney’s office. “They would have
separate ventures and then pool their mon-
cy and resources on olrlljor deals.”

Melvin Willlams has been a resident of
the federal penitentiary in Lewisburg, Pa.,
for almost two years, and yet with every
passing day, he appears stronger, almost
younger. There are few distractions here,
and much of the day is spent lifting weights
in the exercise room or running in the yard.

With muscles tight against his drab
brown prison garb, Williams looks every bit
the health enthusiast who can bench-press
300, who takes pride in being able to run
faster and longer than younger inmates who
arrive at the gates of the old stone facility in
the Susquehanna Valley.

He reads, he sleeps, he eats within the
strict confines of his vegetarian diet. Once a
week, his family arrives from Baltimore.
And with the hours and hours that remain,
Melvin Willlams learns the law.

It is the law to which Willlams has staked
his future.

There will be no negotlations, no deals.
Police and prosecutors believe that Willlams,
with his long history, could bring down
much of Baltimore’s underworld if he decid-
ed to cooperate, and yet they haven't ap-
proached him.

In New York, in Baltimore, inside the
penitentiary in Lewisburg, Melvin Willlams
is known and respected for his word, and
even his detractors wiil concede that Wil-
liams has disciplined his life to an uncom-
promised code of conduct: You do your time;
you don't testify against others.

Once in 1977, Willlams was visited in the
federal penitentiary in Atlanta by a Balti-
more narcotics detective and a representa-
tive of the state’s attorney's office, who
wanted Williams' testimony in a police cor-
ruption case. Williams was looking at the
lion’s share of a 15-year sentence, and coop-
eration could have meant early parole, but
the conversation was short.

“That man's never done anything to me,
and I'm not doing anything to him,"” Wil-
liams told the detective.

Instead, Williams has turned his extraor-
dinary self-discipline to the details of his
criminal appeal and the civil court petitions
that seek the return of seized property. His
legal arguments, which are still being pur-
sued, portray a government willing to bend
the law to keep him in prison.

One civil action seeks to recover furs and
Jewelry seized by authorities, then later used
to depict Williams' way of life as that of a
drug dealer. And yet, the legal papers con-
tend, many of those items were purchased
years before the narcotics conspiracy is al-
leged to have occurred.

The federal agents also took the car —
the $52,000 Maserati seized by federal
agents and reserved for the occasional use of
city Police Commissioner Bishop L. Robin-
son. And again, the Scrapp Investment Cor-
poratfon Inc. is seeking the car's return
through a court petition, arguing that prose-
cutors provided no proof that the car was
anything but a legal corporate purchase.

But far more important is the criminal
appeal of Willlams' February 1985 trial in
Alexandria, Va., filed by Howard L. Cardin,
Willfams' attorney for more than a decade.

In his appeal brief, Mr. Cardin cites the
federal judge for repeatedly interrupting the
defense attorney’s cross-examination, for
prohibiting as evidence a polygraph exam
that would have damaged the testimony of
the key witness in the trial. The appeal also
objects to the judge’s decision to allow 12
citizens to be picked from an all-white pool
of jurors, and then to allow that jury to sit in
judgment of a black defendant.

In addition, Mr. Cardin argues that prose-
cutors improperly introduced into evidence
two handguns confiscated from Willlams’
home — weapons that had no direct bearing
on the charges against Williams and were
selzed, Mr. Cardin contends, under a faulty
search warrant.

With the continuing federal probe still
pending, Willlams declines to defend himself
publicly beyond those legal arguments,

And yet federal prosecutors have already
introduced much of their evidence in the
successful Virginia prosecution against Wil-
ltams and Hawkins, which resuited from an
attempted cocaine buy at a Rosslyn, Va.,
hotel. It s for that conviction that Williams
is serving his 34-year sentence — a sen-
tence that has already been affirmed once
by a federal appeals court.

Beyond that, the extended probe of Wil-
ltams’ organization remains open, and au-
thoritles readily agree that they would like to
see Willlams' sentence extended, and more
of his assets confiscated as narcotics profits.

While federal prosecutors have declined
to comment publicly about the Williams
probe, law enforcement sources note that
the two prosecutors originally assigned to
the investigation — John Prevas and Wil-
llam Quarles — have resigned to become a
lclty Jjudge and a private attorney, respective-

y.

With the federal Organized Crime Drug
Enforcement Task Force down to four prose-
cutors, and with the U.S. Attorney's Office
as a whole short six positions, authorities
contend that delays in the Willlams investi-
gation have resulted from manpower con-
cerns.

“We're s0 backed up with drug cases that
we haven't been able to get the case to
court,” said one federal source. “But the feel-
Ing is that he got a lot of time in the Virginia
case, and he's not going to be going any-
where.”

The profits were enormous, according to
police, who estimate the group amassed
millions of dollars. Investigators for the In-
ternal Revenue Service contend that Wil-

The Melvin Williams organization: 1980 — '84

As alleged by police and prosecutors

Gilen Hawkins
Lieutenant
(serving 20 years)

Louis Savage
Lieutenant
(serving 30 years)

Melv.in D. Wlillams
(Now serving 34 years)
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Lamont Farmer
Lieutenant m—
(serving 7 years)

James Ricks

Lisutenant to

Louis Savage
(serving 30 years)

MID-LEVEL
DEALERS

Nathar; Barksdale
(serving 15 years)

Frankiin Tolson
Lieutenant to
Louis Savage

{serving 20 years;)

Victor Smith
Marando Warthen
Rotand Bell
Enforcers and street
dealers under Barksdale

NKenny Jackson®
Lieutenant

Elwood Farmer*
Partner and brother
to Lamont Farmer

MID-LEVEL DEALERS

‘ STREET LEVEL DEALERS I

Scrapp fierm; parked at city police

llams and his accountants relied on creative

bookkeeping and sophisticated money-laun-
dering schemes to justify new and sudden
wealth.

In 1980, Melvin Willlams was a model
parolee, living in a Lennox Street town
house with his wife and her sister's family of
six, according to federal parole records. He
had a declared income of $8,000 as a dues-
paying member of the International Long-
shoremen'’s Association. His Scrapp Invest-
ment company showed a $4,000 loss from
the Edmondson Avenue pool hall, according
to tax returns filed in court.

Four years later, the same man declared
income of $110,000 and had paid cash for a
three-story Park Avenue home now valued
at $100,000. The house contained another
$100,000 in furnishings, furs and jewelry.
Parked out front was a $52,000 Maserati
and a $34,000 BMW sedan.

The Scrapp firm had acquired 11 west
side real estate properties valued at more
than $700,000, and {t was negotiating for
the $800,000 purchase of a Reservoir Hill
apartment building, according to court rec-
ords. The Scrapp portfolio also included four
tow trucks approved for 24-hour road ser-
vice by the Automobile Association of Amer-
ica.

Even the pool hall had changed. It was
now The Underground, a well-furnished
nightclub valued at $105,000, according to
real estate appraisals.

“It's not hard to be a good businessman
when your business runs on drug money,”
said Maj. Joseph Newman, who until recent-
ly directed the city narcotics squad. “When
you're pulling in millions tax-free, you're go-
ing to show a profit.”

IRS investigators later determined that
Williams held no personal checking ac-
counts and had apparently paid for all pur-
chases — house, cars, furniture, jewelry,
furs — in cash. In addition, investigators
contend that the Scrapp firm, through such
cash businesses as the Underground night-
club and the auto towing service, could sim-
ply report more legitimate income than real-
ly existed.

Although Willlams' personal tax returns
didn't begin to reflect the money coming in,
according to investigators, they were none-
theless creative in their explanation of as-
sets. For example, Williams' 1984 filing re-
ported $30,000 earned by Willlams as a
manager for his Scrapp firm and, in appar-
ent reference to his skill as a gambler, an-
other $80,000 in “chance winnings.”

Other explanations for Williams' wealth
were simply surreal, investigators contend.

According to documents later confiscated
by authorities, Willams' accountant was
told that Dorothy Williams left her son
$100,000 in cash savings. But over their
entire lives, according to Social Security rec-
ords, Alfred and Dorothy Willlams' earnings
were no more than $110,000.

Balance statements and tax filings for the

Scrapp company showed a steady accumu-
lation of wealth. By 1984, the company was
reporting assets of more than $320,000, and
income from rental properties supposedly
accounted for more than $100,000 annual-
ly.
Y Moreover, those financial statements rep-
resented the Scrapp firm's chief liability as
loans payable to stockholders — an amount
that had reached $230,000 in 1984. But
Willlams is listed on earlier tax returns as
the owner of 100 percent of the corpora-
tion's stock, according to investigators, who
allege that he was, in effect, laundering cash
by lending it to himseif.

By rooting through documents confiscat-
ed from Willlams' home, nightelub and ac-
countant's office, IRS agents have been able
to document $500,000 in unreported In-
come between 1980 and 1984, and they
have advised federal prosecutors to seek tax
evaslon charges against Willlams.

But that figure, based only on Willlams’
known expenditures and those of the
Scrapp firm, represents only a small share
of the profits actually laundered, investiga-
tors say. X

Authorities learned that Williams,
through one intermediary, deposited more
than $300,000 in cash at a Pennsylvania
Avenue bank branch alone between the
summer of 1982 and late 1984, using a
bank teller who was willing to accept the
large cash deposits without filing the requ‘-
site report to banking authorities.

In civil actions, Scrapp Investment has
challenged the government’s accounting of
Williams’ wealth by distancing itself as a
corporation from Melvin Willlams. And al-
though Willilams appears on earlier corpo-
rate records as a vice president of the firm,
his name was removed from state corporate
charter documents last year.

Instead. Scrapp Investment is operated
by Williams' wife, Mary, and his father-in-
law, James E, Rogers, who are the only
listed directors. Other court papers identify
Melvin Willlams only as a manager for the
Scrapp firm, and argue that Willlams' al-
leged narcotics activities are unrelated to
Scrapp's assets.

In addition., Willlams’ supporters argue
— and some Investigators agreec — that the
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Scrapp company was legitimately success-
ful. The towing company, the rental proper-
ties and the Underground nightclub were all
profitable.

“You can go into the Underground any
night and find people spending money
there," said Tim Conway, a longtime friend
of the Williams family. “Melvin Willlams is a
successful businessman. Just becausc
you're black and ride around in a Mascrati
doesn't mean you deal drugs.”

Others close to Williams point to his ex-’
pertise as a gambler, and (o a certain extent,
court records support that argument.

For example, a federal informant told de-
tectives about an August 1983 crap game
attended by the movers and shakers in the
west side narcotics trade. Police were told
that Williams, in his old Avenue form, had
walked out of an after-hours club with
$200,000 of Willlam E. “Little Will" Frank-
lin's money, according to court affidavits,
which name Franklin as the target of an
ongoing federal narcotics investigation.

While authorities contend that gambling
and legitimate ventures do not explain the
greater portion of Williams' income, detec-
tives were indeed concerned that Willlams,
and Lamont Farmer as well, could reach a
point where thelr businesses provided
enough legitimate income to completely in-
sulate themselves.

Williams had certainly accumulated
enough weailth to take himself out of the
game. More to the point, Melvin Williams
was a family man, with a wife and two
young daughters. He had reached middle age
in good. health and considerable wealth.

Life was good, and as a two-time loser on
narcotics charges, Willlams could be certain
that narcotics detectives and federal agents
were looking hard at him. If they tagged him
a third time, it would be a lengthy sentence.

But in the minds of the detectives, Melvin
Williams, for all his power-and cunning, had
never really succeeded in outgrowing Little
Melvin.

“He just couldn't walk away from it,” said
Major Newman. “These guys never can. No
matter how much money they make, they
just can't walk away from one more deal.”

Tomorrow: If Williams returned to the
upper ranks of the drug trade, as authori-
ties contend, he did so with discretion. But
those alleged to have sold heroin and co-
caine for his organization in the streets of
West Baltimore built' their careers on
numbing, repetitive violence.
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Heroin trade enlists ever-younger Killers for reign by bloodletting

By David Simon

From the top it seems so clean, so
professional — contacts made and
shipments delivered. They are busi-
nessmen, with accountants and cor-
porate titles and legitimate ventures
funded with less-than-legitimate
capital. The heroin and cocaine they
market could just as well be pork
‘futures, or machine parts, or wid-
gets.

‘EASY MONEY’
ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

Third of five parts

But at bottom, it is war.

Nineteen-year-olds killing 20-
year-olds for a fraction of a kilo.
Children making $200 a week as
lookouts, or $500 a week as run-
ners. Teen-age sociopaths walking
the streets of West Baltimore with
.357-caliber cannons pushed into
the waistbands of their sweat pants.

By the accounts of police and
prosccutors, generations had passed

since Melvin: Willlams' name had
been ]ink* with the street corner
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violence so common to the drug
trade, Court affidavits filed in the
Virginia prosecution and federal de-
tention proceedings portray Wil-
liams as a man who lived above the
escalating bloodshed, who took as
his servants the Nathan Barksdales
of the world.

Crippled at age 11 and a drug us-
er at 13, Nathan "Bodie™ Barksdale
headed only one of several dozen
street-level drug rings that police say
were supplied through the Williams
organization. Barksdale and his men
were preferred customers who con-
trolled soime of the most lucrative
territory in the city — west-side
public housing projects such as the
Lexington Terrace apartments and
the George B. Murphy Homes.

Theirs was a three-year reign of
terror, punctuated by five homicides
and four attempted murders — in-
cluding the prolonged torture of
three people in an 11th-floor apart-
ment at the Murphy Homes.

And that, concedes homicide De-
tective Ed Burns, “is just what we
know about.”

See VIOLENCE, 2B, ol 1
]
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‘Heroin trade

taps young for
rule by guns

At its peak, the violence attributable to
' Barksdale and other dealers became a daily
occurrence in the high-rise projects, where
- residents retreated to their apartments as
stairwells, hallways — even courtyard play-
+ grounds — became war zones.
«- Detectives recalled that security officers,
-Intimidated by the armed dealers, would
‘routinely look the other way as elevators
and stairwells were requisitioned for narcot-
.,i¢s transactions and tenants waited in the
lobby, packages in hand.
~ The west side high-rises had become Bal-
*fimore's 24-hour supermarket for heroin
-"and cocaine — a natural habitat for Nathan
Barksdale, who liked to count Adolf Hitler
and Niccolo Machiavelll among his heroes.
... Even Lamont Farmer, who supplied the
rdrugs sold by Barksdale, tended to regard
+Bodie's ruthlessness with distanced awe.
Detectives at one point overheard Farmer
tell a friend that when he dealt with Barks-
dale, he kept one hand on his gun.

By late 1982, according to court affida-
vits, Barksdale and his group were receiving
a kilogram (2.2 pounds) of heroin — with a
wholesale value of about $100,000 and a
,retall worth of perhaps five times that
amount — every week from Farmer, who is

identified by investigators in court records

. as Williams' chief lieutenant and ally.

-~ And police later uncovered information

"that at least one of the slayings attributed to
Barksdale and his men was, in fact, a con-

, Lract killing performed at Farmer's request,

., according to court papers.

Police and prosecutors contend that Mel-

vin Willlams was {nsulated from street sales
..and had little, if any, contact with dealers

such as Barksdale. But in detention hear-
, ings held after Willlams’ arrest, prosecutors
..cited the Farmer-Barksdale tie as evidence
.that Williams, through his connections,
,could be a danger to the community if re-
*leased.

In court hearings, Willlams has consis-

tently denied any ties to Nathan Barksdale
“ar any of the violence attributed to such
street dealers. Howard L. Cardin, Williams’
attorney, argued during the detention hear-
ings that linking Williams to Farmer and
“Barksdale was tenuous at best, and that
“there was never any indication that Wil-
liams intended to bring "any kind of harm to
anybody.”
"' But police maintain that the narcotics al-
» legedly marketed by Williams and his organ-
‘ization was tne carrier of the disease: “You'd
“'never see Melvin down at the projects. May-
~be once in a while, he'd ride by in that big
.‘car of his,” said Detective John Hailey, of the
“eity's Special Tactical Operations Patrol
ETGT), which works high-crime areas in-
~..cluding the housing projects. “But it’s his
*'dope that was being sold.”
st Added Detective Burns: “One dealer
might get shot because he was selling from
“*another guy's corner. But both of them could
thave been supplied with heroin that ulti-
-mately came from Melvin."
" And it is only getting worse.
“The kids running drugs are getting
- younger and younger,” said Detective Wil-
" liam Matthews, of the STOP squad. “They
v+will kill you for a $5 debt, or just for looking
at them the wrong way. They just don't
care.”

Police Commissioner Bishop L. Robinson,

who served as a narcotics detective in the
""1960s when Williams was a young man liv-
ing off the street, suggests that the current
+level of drug-related violence makes it un-
likely that the streets will again produce
someone as durable as Melvin Williams.
. “If Melvin were coming up today," Mr.
Robinson speculated, “he wouldn't live to be
21"

[m}
, City homicide detectives, as well as STOP
.,.squad officers working in the high-rises,
_were introduced to Barksdale and his child-
“.+hood friend, Marando Warthen, six years
.-ago, when the two were pushing their way
~into the crowded drug market at the west
side projects.
.~ Barksdale was then 17, Warthen a year
:older. The two had grown up in the high-
"rises, accumulating a dozen juvenile arrests
“for petty crimes for which probation was the
‘inevitable penalty. according to court rec-
“ords.
" As appearances go, they were hardly im-
:pressive. Thin and gangly, Barksdale had
lost a foot as a child when a truck backed
" him against a wall, and in 1983, the leg was
_-amputated to the knee. With the use of a
. cane, Barksdale could still move extremely
-fast, although during court hearings he
.~ would appear as a wheelchair-bound in-
valid.
"' - Warthen was the son of a former Balti-
. *‘more police officer who lived with his mother
in their North Ellamont Street home. Maran-
do was tall, but slight of frame, with a bayish
_~face and soft voice. His manner was shy and
. detached.
." Both Barksdale and Warthen were tu-
.'tored as lookouts and runners by older drug
traffickers, and the lessons were often
“harsh, according to detectives. Police were
- told of an incident in which Barksdale was
punished by his mentor, Frank Harper, for
failing to turn over all of the profits. Harper
" 'locked the boy in a row house basement
with an angry German shepherd.
- But Nathan Barksdale endured, and
".STOP squad detectives watched his reputa-
tion grow.
In March 1981, he fatally wounded a

ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

Evidence photos
(above) show the
aftermath of the
prolonged torture of
three people in a
high-rise apartment
by Barksdale and
others; Frank
Harper's store
(above right) on the
night of his murder;
Barksdale and thrc :
of his enforcers (right).
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Nathan

man during an argument at the high-rise at
1058 Argyle Ave. He was charged with hom-
icide, but the only witness recanted. Barks-
dale ultimately received a suspended sen-
tence on a manslaughter charge.

Barksdale himself was shot later that
year in a drug-related dispute in a George
Street high-rise. It was the second, and most
serious, of four instances in which Bodie
would be wounded by gunfire, according to
court records.

Hospitalized with six gunshot wounds,
Barksdale identified his assailant for detec-
tives. When the case finally came to trial in
July 1982, however, he refused to testify.

Instead, Barksdale waited until the man
who tried to kill him was led into the court-
room by sheriff's deputies. Barksdale then
stepped to the aisle and knocked the man
unconscious with a blow to the head from
his metal cane. He later served 30 days for
the assault.

More milestones:

OIn August 1982, Barksdale was
charged in the July murder of Frank Harper,
the drug trafficker who had been hig men-
tor. Harper's death gave Barksdale a monop-
oly on some of the most lucrative territory in
the projects, according to detectives. War-
then was identified by a witness as an ac-
complice in the killing.

But a Baitimore Circuit Court jury acquit-
ted Barksdale after three hours of delibera-
tion, refusing to believe that thc wheel-
chair-bound defendant could have carried
out Harper's murder, according to com-
ments attributed to jurors after the verdict.

D Barksdale, Warthen and a third mem-
ber of their group, Andre "Jim” Hart, 24,
were also charged with the August 1982
murder of John Bailey, 30, who was killed in
retaliation for the robbery of Louis Savage, a
cocaine dealer allied with Lamont Farmer, at
a west side stash house, according to detec-
tives.

Detectives later heard from an informant
that Bailey, after learning of Savage's stat-
ure, tried to make amends by returning a
wristwatch that he had taken during the
robbery. Savage accepted the watch, accord-
ing to the informant, but Bailey's bullet-rid-
dled body was found in a third-floor hallway
at the Lexington Terrace high-rise.

The state's chief witness in both the
Harper and Bailey murders was Patrick Bat-
tle, 17, a pusher and runner for Barksdale,
who told police his story only after Barksdale
allegedly attempted to have him killed as
well. But Battle had lied when police had
questioned him earlier about the Bailey mur-

Barkdale

Marando Warthen

der, discrediting himself as a witness.

Following the March 1983 acquittalin the
Harper case, the charges in the Bailey mur-
der were dismissed.

0O Barksdale, Hart and three other mem-
bers of the group — including Barksdale's
older brother, Ronald — were also charged
with the kidnapping and attempted murder
of Patrick Battle three days after the Bailey
murder.

Although Battle lied about Bailey's death
when questioned by police, Barksdale, sus-
pecting otherwise, ordered the youth killed.
The other four defendants drove Battle to
Leakin Park and propped him against a tree.
A handgun was aimed at his head, accord-
ing to police and court records.

Battle later told police that he was told to
get on his knees, and the gun was cocked.
Battle ducked, and the first shot went sing-
ing over his head.

Dodging bullets, the boy ran through the
park and dove through the living room win-
dow of a nearby Edmondson Village home,
where the occupant called police. Battle then
told detectives a different story about the
Bailey and Harper murders.

The charges in this incident, however,
were also dropped. because Battle's earlier
statements o police undermined his credi-
bility in court.

“It was frustrating,” said one detective in-
volved in the case. “Barksdale just slipped
through the cracks.”

By spring 1983, prosecutors had closed
the case files, and Nathan Barksdale was
consolidating territory in the high-rises. In
addition to Warthen, Hart and his brother,
Ronald, Bodie had acquired the services of
Roland E. "Ronnie Mo" Bell, according to
STOP squad detectives, who recall that Bell
routinely carried at least two handguns and
once went so far as to tell several STOP
squad officers that in the projects: “I'm the
law.”

Another enforcer working for Barksdale
was 16-year-old Victor Smith, who sold
Barksdale's cocaine in the Murphy Homes

and was all of 15 when he first came to the
attention of homicide detectives in conncc-
tion with several drug-related shootings in
the high-rises.

Years later, when he appeared as a wit-
ness in a city court trial, Victor Smith would
be asked by a prosecutor whether he would
kill someone who had identified him or his
friends as drug dealers.

“I probably would,” the tecn-ager replied.

“You wouid hold a gun to a person's head
and blow that person's head off, wouldn’t

Roland Ball Victor Smith

Reign of terror

you?" asked the prosecutor.

"Yes," sald Victor Smith.

Predictably, in the spring of 1984, the
violence began again.

In the early morning hours of April 23, a
lone gunman shoved aside the doorman at
the Club Chandelier, an after-hours club in
the 2300 block of Reisterstown Road,
walked down a short hallway to the edge of a
crowded dance floor and put a .357-caliber
handgun to the back of Michacl Stewart's
head.

The resulting explosion was heard by a
potice officer parked a block away. The offi-
cer heard a second shot and then watched a
young suspect run from the club, turn a
corner and walk up the biock. The officer got
behind the suspect, pulled his service re-
volver and ordered the suspect to halt and
keep his hands where they could be scen.

"1 think somebody’s been shot in the club
around the corner,” sald Marando Warthen,
as the officer pulled the murder weapon
from Warthen's waist.

Inside the club, other officers found the
body of Stewart, 47, the club's co-owner,
and that of Joseph O. “Propositicn Joc”
Johnson, 48, a one-time Pennsylvania Ave-
nue hustler who had once tutored the young
Melvin Williams, and was working as the
club doorman that night.

After firing the gunshot that killed Stew-
art, Warthen had turned to walk back to the
front door. As he passed Johnson, wha had
backed up against the wall to let Warthen
leave, he pressed the Magnum against the
doorman'’s chest and fired a second shot,
according to police.

City homicide detectives have yel to un-
cover a specific motive for the double-slay-
ing, although they regarded it from the very
beginning as a contract slaying.

Police and prosccutors later learned from
informants that Michael Stewart, himself a
sizable narcotics dealer and the presumed
target of the contract, was killed because of
a drug-related debt, but the identity of the
man who ordered his death has yet lo be
determined. The killing of Joc Johnson
seemed to have been impulse on the part of
Warthen.

Three nights after Stewart's murder,
Barksdale, Roland Bell and three others in
the group were involved in the prolonged
torture and attempted murder of threc peo-
ple — an incident so brutal and bizarre that
even veteran police officers were stunned.

Barksdale and his group — already on
edge from the murders at the Club Chande-
lier — were killing time in a courtvard at the
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Murphy Homes high-rises when they spot-
ted a woman they knew as an acquaintance
of Michael Stewart.

The woman, Myra Tyson, was in the
company of two men who were unfamiliar to
the group, and Barksdale feared that the
threesome had come to the projects seeking
revenge for the Stewart murder, according to
statements made to police after the incident.

One by one, Ms. Tyson and her escorts
— who had come to the projects to purchase
cocaine — were forced at gunpoint by Ro-
land Bell and Barksdale to an 11th-floor
apartment, where they were beaten and tor-
tured by the gang, according to court testi-
mony. Ms. Tyson was first.

Barksdale forced her to disrobe and be-
gan burning her with cigarettes and beating
her with gun butts. After that, Barksdale
and his men used a curling iron to burn her
face and stabbed her breasts with a knife.
according to court records.

The second victim, Timothy Franklin,
was then taken to the apartment by Bell and
beaten. At one point, Barksdale attempted to
saw his ear off using a serrated steak knife,
according to court records.

“It was an incredible scene,” said prosecu-
tor Brian J. Murphy. “Barksdale was sitting
there like some sort of Mengele, asking his
buddies to hand him the curling iron or the
steak knife while he tortured these people.”

Michael Stokes was soon dragged into the
apartment and all three victims were herded
into a bathroom, according to court records.
The three were asked how they wanted to
die.

Timothy Franklin said he wanted to die
while high on drugs and Bodic fixed a speed-
ball, a potent mixture of cocaine and heroin.
He found a vein in Myra Tyson’s hand and
within minules she was barely conscious.
The woman was then dragged around the
apartment by a cord tied to her neck.

After several hours, Barksdale and his
men then began an academic debate on how
to dispose of the bodies, according to Mr.
Murphy, the prosecutor. They considered
throwing all three victims off the balcony

but decided a triple-suicide might be less
than credible. They discussed sctting the
apartment on fire, but decided that might
reflect badly on the tenant, Barry Smith,
Victor's 20-year-old brother, who was one of
Barksdale's apprentices that night.

Michael Stokes, the third victim, didn't
wait for a consensus. While being held in a
bathroom, he grabbed a gun from Victor
Smith, and began shooting. Smith was hit
four times, and Barksdale was shot once in
the arm.

Stokes kept running until he found a po-
lice officer. Police arrived and found bleeding
and drugged bodies — all of them still
breathing — throughout the high-rise. The
apartment itself was littered with weapons,
blood and narcotics.

Unabile to sort it all out, the patrol officers
initially charged everyone involved.

Following an investigation, Barksdale
was indicted along with Roland Bell, Victor
and Barry Smith, and 18-year-old Seth Mc-
Millan. The victims were terrified of testify-
ing, but their fear that Barksdale might be
released from the City Jail was greater, and
they took the stand, prosecutors said.

In December 1984, Marando Warthen,
22, received a 103-year sentence following
his conviction for the Club Chandelier mur-
ders. Circuit Court Judge Edward J. Angelet-
ti called him “a paid assassin."

Two months later, Barksdale and three of
his co-defendants accepted a plea agreement
in connection with the Murphy Homes tor-
ture incident. Victor and Barry Smith were
sentenced to four and two years, respective-
ly. while Seth McMillan received a three-
year sentence. Barksdale's plea bought him
15 years.

Roland Bell maintained in court that he
was not at the projects the night of the tor-
ture incident and clected to take the charges
against him to trial. i

But in a statement to detectives made
after his arrest, Bell claimed that he “tried to
talk Bodie out of killing” the three, but
Barksdale was “super-paranold because he
thought they had a contract out on him”
because of the Stewart murder.

“I don't give up farnily,” Bell told the de-
tectives, explaining that he wouldn't talk
about the role of others in the incident.

“And,” bragged the project enforcer, who
was arrested only after a lengthy gun battle
with pursuing police officers. "I don't give up
my guns. You got one of my guns, but you
don’t have the rest of them. I've got seven
guns, but you'll never find them.”

Bell was convicted in May 1985 and sen-
tenced to a 100-year prison term. While
Barksdale did not respond to a request for an
interview, and Warthen declined such a re-
quest, Bell met with a reporter at the Mary-
land Penitentiary and maintained his inno-
cence. Contending that he did not work as
an enforcer in the projects and only knew of
Nathan Barksdale in passing, Bell claimed
that he had been singled out because he had
carned the enmity of certain police officers.”

“Bodie is Bodie,” said Bell. “But he's much
younger, and I didn't have that much to do
with him. The people down in the projects
know me. They'll tell you Ronnic Mo never
hurt no one.”

Perhaps the most fitting epilogue for the
Barksdale contingent is provided in a pre-
sentence report on Bodie prepared by the
state parole and probation division. In an
clegant understatement, it noted that Barks-
dale's history “indicates that [his] only prob-
lem under supervision was his continual ar-
rest for violent offenses.”

Tomorrow: The drug-related murder of
a young graduate student begins a two-
year investigation that takes city detec-
tives through the ranks of a sophisticated
drug ring and to the door of Melvin Wil-
liams' home.
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Woman's death leads to beeper codes, Little Melvin

By David Simon

It begins with the body of an at-
tractive graduate student on the
kitchen floor of her apartment. One
.38-callber wound to the chest and a
bullet hole in a rear window. No mo-
tive or suspect.

The victim, Dessera C. Press, 27,
was stooping toward the window
when the gunman fired through the
glass. She saw or heard something
outside, perhaps, and was shot
when she leaned over to look.

‘EASY MONEY’
ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

Fourth of five parts

Homicide detectives Edward
Burns and Richard Falteich were as-
signed the case. On a January eve-
ning in 1983, they stood in the
kitchen of 2805 Gatehouse Drive, on
Baltimore's western edge, sorting de-
tails of a seemingly senseless crime.

They weren't looking for cocaine,
or heroin, or Melvin Williams.

And yet the Press murder case
would grow. Detective Burns and his
partner, Harry Edgerton. would be
reassigned as federal agents and the
investigation would begin its long
Jjourney. snaking through one of Bal-
timore's largest and most sophisti-
cated drug rings.

The events chronicled here are
complled from court records, affida-

Caught in the act

was recorded.

vits, police reports and interviews
with investigators.

There were no car chases, no
gunfights, no dangerous undercover
assignments. The case was two

August 7, 1984: Louis “Cookie” Savage (back
to camera) and four others crowd the dining
room of a Pimlico apartment used as a cutting
house. A video camera hidden behind a thin
layer of drywall recorded the group as they
began diluting and packaging an estimated

$1 million in narcotics. Identified by authorities
as another Williams lieutenant, Savage (insert)
was arrested when detectives broke through
the apartment door — seconds after this scene

SUN GRAPHIC!

years of exacting, often aggravating
police work — most of it in parked
cars, sipping 7-Eleven coffee. or in
cluttered city offices, checking tax
records or monitoring phone calls

from a government-issue desk.

In the end, they found themselves
at the door of a Reservoir Hill home,
holding a warrant for a man that
authoritics contend is one of this
city's most powerful and durable
drug traffickers, a man known to
generations of Baltimore police as
Little Melvin.

“Kurt Schrnoke's hit list”

The people who knew Dessera
Press were terrified, and would talk
only after being promised anonymi-
ty. They told police that the victim
had dated Louis E. “Cookle” Savage.

Two witnesses recalled Ms, Press
describing Savage as a cocaine deal-
er who pald her expenses. And, po-
lice were told, Savage had brought
large amounts of cocaine to parties
at Ms, Press’ home,

But Savage, 33, ended the affair
the fall of 1982, when Ms. Press be-
came jealous of other women in-
volved with Savage — one of them a
neighbor who lived at 2801 Gate-
house Drive. Bitter, Ms. Press re-
peatedly told people she would put
Savage “on Kurt Schmoke's hit list,”
an apparent reference to the state's
attorney's promise to prosecute drug
dealers.

Detective Burns checked with the
state’s attorney's office, but there
was no communication from Des-
sera Press. The city narcotics squad.

See WILLIAMS, 2B, Col. 1
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Slaying leads
to coded calls,
Little Melvin

WILLIAMS, from 1B

however, had taken a cryptic call a month
before the murder.

A young woman, who refused to give her

name, had told Detective Darryl Massey that
a big narcotics dealer, Louis “Cookie” Sav-
age, was at his girlfriend’s house with a kilo
of cocaine. The woman gave 2801 Gate-
house Drive as the address. Then, she hung
up.
The detectives began looking at Louis
Savage, and found that he changed apart-
ments yearly, using fake names on rental
and utility accounts. His phone records
showed calls to New York and Miami num-
bers linked to narcotics suspects in drug
enforcement files.

A Govans grocery and a downtown apart-
ment bullding were also identified by an in-
formant as fronts used by Savage's group,
and land records showed that both proper-
ties were purchased by Four Keys Enter-
prises Inc. But the firm filed no tax returns
indicating income. Nor did the corporation’s
only director, Carroll Willlams, have enough
capital to account for the real estate pur-
chases.

The money was coming from somewhere
else.

In May, police began to watch the grocery
and lcarned of three others in Savage's
group: Franklin H. Tolson, 36; James A.
“lee” Ricks Jr., 29: and Lamont S. “Chin”
Farmer. Tolson and Ricks appeared to be
lleutenants to Savage and frequented the
grocery. Farmer was the part-owner of an
East North Avenue print shop raided by
state police earlier that year.

The rald was the result of a probe into
illegal trafficking in state birth certificates,
which could be used to hide criminal activi-
ty. Farmer, 33, was charged with conspiring
to buy blank certificates until the key wit-
ness became fearful and refused to testify.

The raid on the print shop, however, pro-
duced one intrigutng item: an invoice from
an Atlantic City drug paraphernalia store for
a $10,000 purchase of mannitol, a sub-
stance used to dilute narcotics. At $23 a
pound, that was enough cutting agent for
$27 million of cocaine at street prices.

The detectives concluded that Lamont
Farmer and Louls Savage were partners.
Like Savage, Farmer had no legitimate in-
come, yet he had acquired new equipment
for the print shop, as well as an automobile
towing company.

In the summer of 1983, the detectives —
deputized as federal agents — began moni-
toring phones at both the grocery and print
shop using a pen register, a device that rec-
ords outgoing numbers dialed from a phone
extension. Unlike a wiretap, it doesn’t allow
police to overhear conversations.

The pen regfsters would log numbers di-
aled from each phone, and the detectives
would then check those numbers with
phone company records. The result: a veri-
table phone directory of narcotics suspects,
all of whom were in contact with the Farm-
er-Savage group. To confirm the calls were
drug-related, informants were used to make
drug buys from suspects who had been
phoned by either business.

Absent, however, was any volume of
calls between Savage's grocery and Farm-
er's print shop. The pen register logs, how-
ever, provided the answer: a serles of 16-dig-
it numbers registered to a firm called Ameri-
can Teleservices Inc.

It was at that point, Detective Burns re-
called, that he began to appreciate Lamont
Farmer's ingenuity.

“He wasn’t using the phone to do busi-
ness. A phone can be wiretapped,” said the
detective. “He was using beepers.”

Lessons in cryptography

A subpoena was served on American Te-
leservices and the 16 digits were explained:
The first seven digits activated the beeper.
and the remaining nine digits were then dis-
played on the device. The detectives found
that the first two diglts displayed were a code
identifying the caller. The remaining seven
digits were the phone number where the
caller could be contacted.

In September 1983, police “cloned” five
heepers to operate on the same frequency as
the five beepers used most frequently by the
drug organization. When a suspect’s beeper
was activated, the cloned beeper in the pos-
session of a narcotics detective would beep
and display the same message.

The delectives kept logs on each of the
tive beepers, and officers were assigned to
monitor them 24 hours a day, even taking
them home after a shift. Based on the mes-
sages received on each beeper, they deter-
mined that four of the devices belonged to
Savage, Farmer, Ricks and Carroll Williams,
front man for Four Keys Enterprises. They
were unsure about the fifth beeper, number
995-2152. It might, they thought, belong to
Farmer's girlfriend.

Using the cloned beepers, the detectives
hoped to learn which phones Farmer and
Savage used to talk business. “But when we
checked a number displayed on the beepers
with the phone company, they told us-there
was no such phone,” said Detective Burns.
“The messages were in code.”

Two of the codes used by the drug ring,
which involved substitution or inversion of a
phore number’s digits, were discovered
quickiy. . third code — the one used by
Farmer when communicating with his un-
derlings — made no sense.

“We had no idea what he was doing," satd
Detective Edgerton. "We tried different ways
of varying the numbers and nothing
worked.”

After days of mathematical contortions,
Detective Edgerton happened to notice the
square conflguration of push buttons on the
phone at his desk. That was it: Farmer was
substituting the last three digits of every
phone number by “jumping” over the “5"
button. (See graphic)

With the codes broken. the detectives dis-
covered a pattern: “Farmer would beep
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Dessera C. Press (above)
had broken up with Louis
Savage, a cocaine dealer,
when she was shot to
death in her home in early
1983, causing Baltimore
homicide detectives Harry
Edgerton (left) and Edward
longiny investigation that
le nvestigation tha
unncg;vg'ed drug traﬂickllelﬁ
with the use of encod
telephone messages via
beed;;ers and eventually led
to the Reservoir Hill home
of Melvin Williams.

The phone codes

The three major targets of the investigation and
the beeper codes they used to avoid detection,
according to police - o
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Lamont Farmer's “5” code
First use correct phone exchange, then
a"9" because it's a pay phone. The
bottom line of a push-button phone is

_ eliminated as well as the five. Then jump
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someone and give him the number of a pay
phone In code,” explained Detective Edger-
ton. “Then we'd see both guys walk to pay
phones to tatk.”

Sure enough, when police established
enough legal cause for wiretaps on the gro-
cery and print shop phones in April 1984,
they heard very little of Farmer: “If he had
anything to say worth hearing,” added De-
tective Edgerton, “he would use the beepers
and pay phones.”

The detectives began to regard the amia-
ble, soft-spoken Farmer as a driving force
behind the drug ring. It was Farmer who
ploneered the use of beepers, and police later
learned he was taking college business
courses and doing well.

Savage, however, was less disciplined.
Detectives listening to the Govans grocery
wiretap would routinely pick up conversa-
tions that while coded — drug packages
were referred to as “beers” or “cans of paint”
— clearly involved narcotics.

By summer 1984, the detectives had
learned enocugh to trail Savage and his lieu-
tenants to a Pimlico apartment that was be-
ing used as a cutting house, where narcotics
were diluted and packaged.

Fearing that Savage's group would use
music or nojse to obscure their voices, police
in June obtained a court order for video sur-
velllance, allowing state authorities to film
suspects inside a buflding for the first time.

The camera caught it all: Savage and his
lleutenants packaging piles of cocaine and
heroin, Savage throwing stacks of money
into a large plastic bag, Savage and others
snorting and shooting higher-quality dope
than most addicts ever see.

On Aug. 7, 1984, detectives and federal
agents broke into the apartment and ar-
rested Savage, Tolson, Ricks and two other
members of the drug ring. An estimated $1
million in narcotics was recovered.

The raid itself was videotaped: Savage
and the others at a table, a noise in the
hallway, one man lunging to block the door,
others scooping up cocaine and running to
the back bedroom. Then a dozen guys in
rald jackets, guns drawn, adrenalin pump-
ing, shouting for everyone to get on the floor.

The fifth beeper

In September 1984, even as the detec-
tives were shadowing Lamont Farmer
through the contact beepers and the print
shop wiretap, the name of an even more
elusive underworld figure surfaced:

Melvin Willlams.

Paroled from his earlier narcotics convic-
tion in late 1979, Willlams had become the
subject of a thick police intelligence file. Nar-
cotics detectives and federal agents had for
several years been collecting information
that indicated Williams had returned to the
narcotics trade, according to police, but ef-
forts to penetrate his organization were un-
successful,

Enter Walter C. Robinson.

A 41-year-old hustler and narcotics bro-
ker, Robinson emerged from federal prison
in December 1983 after serving two years
for fraud and remained free for a little more
than six months before he was caught trying
to buy cocaine from a federal agent.

In the months following his arrest, Wal-
ter Robinson told the government the follow-
Ing story — a story that Melvin Williams'
attorney would later call a complete fabrica-
tion:

Arriving in Baltimore without money or
prospects, Robinson looked for old friends to
help him out. Williams was sympathetic,
having known Robinson for years. Through
Willlams’ chief lieutenant, Glen Moore Haw-
kins, a kilogram of cocaine was provided to
Robinson on consignment in March 1984.
Robinson could put the cocaine on the
street, pay Willlams back and keep the prof-
it.

But Robinson lacked the contacts to ped-
dle the kilo himself. He later told detectives

that he gave the package to a dealer who
had better connections, but the man ran off
with it. Robinson borrowed $3,500 to pay
Willlams a portion of what he owed. He ex-
plained the situation and Williams provided
another package.

Even as he was trying to work the kilo
packages, Robinson began to talk about a
Norfolk cocaine connection. A prison cell
mate had told Robinson about a relative who
could get cocaine for $25,000 a kilo. Wil-
liams was interested.

On June 8, Robinson traveled to Alexan-
dria, Va., where his former cell mate intro-
duced him to the Norfolk connection, who
offered them a four-kilogram shipment. Five
days later, Robinson and Hawkins went to
Willlams' home, where Willlams pulled
$100,000 cash from a closet to finance the
deal. Robinson would keep a kilo as his fee.

But the next day, June 14, found Robin-
son and Hawkins under arrest in Rosslyn,
Va. The Norfolk connection was a federal
agent. The $100,000 was confiscated.

At first, Robinson felt responsible for the
bust and got word to Hawkins that he would
take the blame.

Robinson then sent his wife to meet Wil-
ltams and ask about money for bail and a
lawyer. Williams discussed the case several
times with the woman and according to the
woman’s court testimony, he came to a deci-
sion. Williams told her the $100,000 was a
gift and there would be no more money. It
was Robinson's problem for “being so stu-
pid.”

More importantly, according to Robinson,
Willlams told Robinson's wife that Glen
Hawkins would do anything required to stay
out of jail. Hearing that, Robinson surmised
that Hawkins would testify against him,
breaking an unwritten code among West
Baltimore's narcotics traffickers: You do
your time, you don’t testify against others.

Robinson made a decision of his own. He
turned state’s witness.

In early September 1984, detectives
Burns and Edgerton, along with other inves-
tigators, went to Virginia to meet Walter
Robinson. The story Robinson told them
was interesting, plausible certainly. But the
initial reaction of the Baltimore contingent
was that the Virginia case wouldn’t fly with-
out corroborating evidence.

“But then,” said Detective Edgerton, “Rob-
inson told us he used a beeper.”

Robinson told them that Melvin Willlams
had a contact beeper, and Willlams had giv-
en him a phone number to activate the de-
vice. The detectives asked what the number
was, and Robinson located it in his address
book: 995-2152.

“That was the fifth beeper, the one we
thought belonged to Farmer's girlfrlend,”
sald Detective Burns. “We'd been tracking it
for months, but until we talked to Robinson,
we didn’t know it was Melvin's.”

After the interview with Robinson, Detec-
tive Edgerton checked the logs kept of every
contact beeper since September 1983, He
found that Robinson's code number — “41"
— first appeared on Willlams’ beeper in
March 1984 and disappeared a few days
before his arrest.

Robinson had recalled beeping Williams
repeatedly from his home or from pay
phones, and police found those cails record-
ed in the logs. The recorded numbers
matched Robinson’s home phone, his girl-
friend’s house, and other phones he used.

They had a case. But the Baltimore group
didn’t want to shut down the investigation
just yet. In the weeks prior to the interview
with Robinson, the detectives had cuitivated
an informant who knew Elwood Farmer, La-
mont's older brother.

They wanted to use the informant to
make a buy from Lamont Farmer. And they
wanted to get a phone conversation between
Farmer and Melvin Williams on tape.

Surveillance was getting them nowhere.

Lamont Farmer was simply too cautious
to be caught moving heroin or cocaine. He
would spend hours driving through the city,

over the five to get the last three digits.
» So the pay phones along North Avenue
| that Farmer used to conduct business:
547-9441, 547-9690 and 547-9770
| become 547-9669, 547-9410 and
547-9330 respectively.

' Louls Savage’s “scatter code”
Savage was more random and would

try to make the numbers recognizable. - °
Instead of 435-7171, the number at his
grocery, he and his lisutenants might .,
transmit 435-1717 or 435-7777 so that .
someone who knew the number could
recognize it, but it was otherwise encodec

-~ Melvin Williams’ “inversion code”

- Williams would simply reverse the last :
four digits. So the pay phone near-his
Edmondson Avenue nightclub, number -
5§66-9726 would become 568-5279. .\

T sonaraprics |

using sudden stops or an occasfonal U-turn
to make sure that he wasn't being followed.

It was even less likely that Farmer, an
established wholesaler, would make a drug
sale to anyone he didn't know. As for Melvin
Williams, the detectives believed there was
no possibility of catching him with narcotics

.« — it had long been believed by police that
Willlams did not touch the drugs.

But in late August 1984, investigators
were able to get their informant talking nar-
cotics with Lamont Farmer, whose older
brother, Elwood, was a continual source of
frustration. Elwood Farmer, 40, was a nar-
cotics user, and his younger brother often
found himself coping with business left un-
finished. )

The informant, an Annapolis man with
contacts In Baltimore's drug trade, played
deftly on Lamont Farmer's irritation. On
Aug. 17, he met with Lamont at the print
shop and politely complained that Elwood
had failed to return his calls about a cocaine
sale:

“A guy like him, he always planning to
do,"” replied Farmer, adding, “Sometimes he
do, sometimes he don't.”

The conversation ended with Farmer
promising to get back to the informant, and
negotiations continued. Meanwhile, the de-
tectives — armed with the knowledge that
the fifth beeper belonged to Melvin Willlams
-~ were working to catch him talking with
Farmer on the phone.

From continued surveillance, the detec-
tives found that the two men would, more
often than not, use pay phones near their
businesses after being beeped. Farmer fa-
vored three pay phones near his shop on
North Avenue, while Willlams used a pay
phone located inside his nightclub or one at
a garage a few doors away.

In October, police were granted a court
order allowing them to monitor certain con-
versations on those pay phones. But the or-
der allowed for a conversation to be moni-
tored only if a suspect was using the phone.

“We had to have a man at the phone
booths, watching to make sure that it was
Melvin or Chin {Farmer] using the pay
phones at that instant.” explained Detective

erton,

On Oct. 30, officers picked up the follow-
ing message on Melvin Willlams' beeper:
015471449. That message told Willlams to
call “01," Farmer's {dentification number, at
the pay phone-outside the print shop. The
last four digits of the phone number had
been encoded by Farmer using Willlams'
preferred method of reversing the last four
digits — the actual number was 547-9441.

Undercover officers watched Willilams
leave his home on a bicycle, ride to a pay
phone a block away and make a call. Other
detectives stationed near the print shop saw
Lamont Farmer pick up the receiver at the
pay phone.

“At that point, we thought, ‘Okay, here it
is, we're finally going to hear something,’ "
sald Detective Burns. “But even then, with
all the precautions, they were talking in
code.”

In context, however, it was clear to the
detectives that the two men were discussing
a pending heroin transaction:

"I was talking in regards to you, your call,
that you, you . . . the brother said their avail-
abllity was optional,” Willlams told Farmer.

“Yeah,” replied Farmer, prompting Wil-
lfams to ask whether Farmer had been in
touch with an apparent drug connection.

“No. I just told him, just, just . . . I talked
to him once.”

Then the two men discussed finances:

“Alright, how's yours?” asked Williams,

“Ah, you know, | been kinda slow with
me, man.”

Willlams inquired further: *So you, you,
your bank's close to zip?”

“I've been trying to tighten up . . . ah, ah
. .. another thing,” sald Farmer indicating
that he was involved in another transaction.
“I been taking care of that first.”

But Williams was unclear what the other

i
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¢6He [Farmer] wasn’t using
the phone to do business. A
phone can be wiretapped.
He was using beepers.%9
DETECTIVE EDWARD BURNS

transaction involved.

“You know what I mean,” added Farmer.
“Before . . . which I'm still doing.”

Williams finally understood.

“You talking okecamay,” said Willlams,
couching the mention of cocaine in school-
boy pig Latin, according to police.

“Yeah,” said Farmer. “I've been taking
care of that, you know.”

A day later, detectives caught Williams
and another of his underlings, Kenny A.
Jackson Jr., discussing Jackson's recent ar-
rest outside the Underground, Willlams’
nightclub on Edmondson Avenue.

Talking from a phone booth outside the
club, Willlams listened as Jackson recount-
ed his arrest by officers only moments after

he had left the club. Willlams told Jackson
that police had stopped him because he was
carrying too much money.

“Yeah, but see, they was on you,” replied
Jackson, who rightly suspected that police
had been watching Willlams, and had

-stopped him because they thought he had
left Willilams' club carrying drugs.

Willlams became alarmed at the thought:
“They was on me!"

Jackson suggested that someone at the
club was an informer: “Somebody ain't right
down there.”

Even as Melvin Willlams was surfacing
on the pay-phone wiretaps, the detectives
were buying cocaine from Lamont Farmer
through the informant. Those transactions
also involved incredible caution.

During one sale, for example, Farmer had
the informant meet him on Charles Street
and switch cars, and the informant was told
to drive Farmer's car to a Northwest Balti-
more gas station. Farmer then arrived on
foot and told the informant where his car
was parked. The informant returned to find
an ounce of cocaine under the floor mat.

“After the last buy from Farmer, we were
told to wrap it up,” said Detective Burns. The
wiretap order had nearly expired and prose-

.cutors {n Virginia were waiting to bring the
-case involving Walter Robinson to court.

. On Dec. 5, 1984, police raided Williams'
Reservolr Hill home and nightclub. Willlams
was arrested when he showed up at his
home to surrender in the company of his
attorney. Farmer was arrested a few days
later.

The cloned beepers provided one last ser-
vice to the detectives.

While the raids were in progress, Lamont
Farmer’s beeper went off. The device dis-
played the code number for Glen Hawkins,
who had not yet been arrested, as well as a
number where Hawkins could be reached.
The number was a pay phone near Wil-
liams’ home.

“We drove up,” recalled Detective Edger-
ton, “and there he was.”

Epilogue

At a federal courthouse in Alexandria in
February 1985, Howard L. Cardin, Melvin
Willlams' attorney for more than a decade,
‘spent hours pounding away at Walter Rob-
inson’s testimony.

Mr. Cardin argued that as a government
witness, Robinson had simply fabricated a
conspiracy to implicate Melvin Willlams and
keep himself out of prison.

In pretrial motions, the defense attorney
had been unsuccessful in his efforts to ad-
mit as evidence a polygraph test adminis-
tered to Robinson after he turned state's
witness — a test that Robinson had not

True, the detectives' logs show Robinson
trying to beep Williams repeatedly in the
months before his arrest, but Mr. Cardin
suggested, doesn’t that indicate that Wii-
llams was aware of Robinson’s activities
and wasn't calling him back?

And though Glen Hawkins was arrested
with Robinson at the falled cocaine buy in
Virginia, defense attorneys argued that
Hawkins, knowing nothing about the pur-
pose of the trip to Rosslyn, had merely of-
fered to give Robinson a lift in exchange for
a few dollars.

But perhaps the strongest point made by
Mr. Cardin centered on Robinson's story it-
self. Why, he asked the jurors, would Melvin
Williams, or anyone else, repeatedly give
large amounts of cocaine, and then a larger
amount of cash to a man who had never
glven anything in return?

Walter Robinson was a smooth talker,
Mr. Cardin argued, but his story didn't make
sense.

After a little more than five hours' dellb-
eration, a U.S, Distrn . "ourt jury found Mel-
vin Willtams gullty. He was sentenced to 24
years in prison, with 10 years added be-
cause the conviction violated Willlams’ 1979
parole. Glen Hawkins recelved a 20-year
term.

A federal appeals court in Richmond up-
held the convictions in April, but Willlams
and Hawkins are pursuing additional ap-
peals. For his part, Walter Robinson served
less than a year in fail and is now in a
federal witness protection program.

In Baltimore, Lamont Farmer pleaded
gullty to federal drug distribution charges
and was sentenced as a first offender to
seven years in prison — a sentence light
enough that narcotics detectives are already
anticipating his return to Baltimore.

Louts Savage also pleaded guiity in both
state and federal courts and was sentenced
to 30 years without parole. Franklin Tolson
received a 20-year sentence.

Savage’s other lieutenant, James Ricks,
was convicted of similar charges by a Balti-
more jury that viewed videotapes from the
Pimlico apartment. He was sentenced to 30
years.

One final note: The murder of Dessera
Press, now four years old, remains unsolved.

Tomorrow: Melvin Williams has been in
prison for two years, but Baltimore’s drug
markets are no less crowded or lucrative.
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Huge drug profits lure eager successors to Williams

“The underworld lives by per-
forming the services which conven-
tion may condemn and the law pro-
hibit, but which nevertheless,
human appetites crave.”

— Walter Lippman

By David Simon

In April 1950, Baltimore police of-
ficials proudly announced the arrest
of one Levi “Crips” Aclon, a 50-year-
old poolroom operator described as
“the No. 1 dope peddler on the East
Coast.” The heroin trade in this city

" was said to be in disarray.

‘EASY MONEY’
ANATOMY OF A DRUG EMPIRE

Last of five parts

The following year, the chief fed-
eral narcotics agent in Baitimore told
city officials that the creation of a
full-time police narcotics squad of
two or three detectives, accompanied
by an appropriation of no more than
$10,000, could “wipe out” the city's
drug trade.

No one talks like that anymore.

Drug-enforcement officlals no
longer speak of the No. 1 narcotics

THE SUN/WRLLIAM G. HOTZ SR

A discarded syringe lies in alley behind Argyle Avenue high-rises.

dealer, because the market has been
saturated by independent operators
with varied sources of supply. And
they no longer predict impending
victory in a city where an estimated
81 million in heroin — and perhaps
three times that amount of cocaine
—- 18 retailed dalily.

“We can't stop the distribution of
drugs,” concedes Thomas O'Grady,
who until recently headed the Drug
Enforcement Administration offices
here. “The best that enforcement
can do 18 keep the lid on it.”

Against that background, law-en-
forcement officials portray the de-
parture of Melvin Willlams — as
large a dealer as they allege him to
have been — as nothing more than
a changing of the guard, an opportu-
nity for some younger dealers to ac-
quire a larger share of the market.

Says Bill Colombell, who heads
the narcotics squad of the FBI's Bal-
timore office: “As long as there are
people who want the drugs, there
will be people to sell them. It'sa war
without an end, but I don’t see any
alternative to fighting it.”

Fight it, they have.

In the year that followed Wil-
lfams’ arrest in 1984, city detectives
and federal agents dismantled nar-

See WILLIAMS, 6B, Col. 1
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Huge profits in drug trade ensure plent1ful supply of eager successors to Williams

WILLIAMS from 1B

cotics organizations headed by two
prominent west side dealers:

‘Charles Lee Butler and Phillip
“Ghost” Kane, the former a federal
fugitive captured only last month af-
ter 19 months on the run, the latter
a longtime Williams friend who was
close to tears when a federal judge
early last year sentenced him to a
30-year term.

In East Baltimore, federal narcot-
ics agents brought down Clarence
“Yo" Meredith, who went under-
ground after his 1983 indictment
and then returned to Baltimore to
rebuild the multimillion-dollar drug
ring that once belonged to Maurice
“Peanut” King,

In the local courts, a state police
Investigation resulted in indictments
of Walter Ingram and James “Pros-

ct” Wescott, two longstanding
members of the west-side narcotics
fraternity. That case — as well as a
spate of murder and attempted mur-
der charges against Timmirror Stan-
fleld and Marlow Bates, a Westport
pair who took over the same high-
rise projects that once housed Na-
than Barksdale's gang — are now
being pursued in city Circuit Court.

“But enforcement is only part of
the answer,” says Maj. Joseph New-

. man, a veteran of the city narcotics
squad. “We're very good at taking
dealers off the street, but that only
leads to other dealers filling the vac-
uum.”

Law-enforcément officlals are
unanimous in their call for increased

drug education and treatment pro-
grams, while some go so far as to
argue for the prosecution of drug us-
ers in an attempt to reduce demand.
Others call for an increased empha-
sis on financial or tax investigations
of large-scale narcotics dealers — a
tactic intended to separate wholesal-
ers from their profits,

“We've got to do much more on

the financial stde of things,” says
Baltimore Police Commissioner Bish-
op L. Robinson, who was among the
early proponents of his police de-
partment’s financfal investigations
team, a new unit of the narcotics
squad that worked the morrey side of
the Melvin Willlams Investigation.

“A lot of dealers are willing to go
to prison, knowing that when they
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Baltimore Police Sgt. Andre Street (center) conducts a drug search in front of the Lexington-Poe Homes.

get out, the money Is going to be
where they left it,” Commissfoner
Robinson explains. “We have to take
that away from them, take the profit
out of drugs.”

. Still, many of the rank-and-file
narcotics agents and detectives pri-
vately express bitterness and frus-
tration with the politics of the past
election year, in which drugs

emerged as a natlonal issue and
candidates fell all over each other in
declaring their support for tougher
narcotics enforcement.

“For years, these people ignore
the problem. Now they think more
money and more people will solve it,”
says one city narcotics detective:
“We could double or triple the budg-
ets for the DEA, the FBI and Balti-
more City [narcotics squad] and you
will still be able to go down to the
projects or Westport and find heroin
or coke or whatever you want.”

And whether local authorities
have the money, manpower and will
to sustain their campaign of costly
narcotics prosecutions is a question
being asked by a number of law en-
forcement officials.

Strapped by recent congressional
budget restrictions, the U.S. attor-
ney’s office in Baltimore and the re-
gional Organized Crime Drug En-
forcement Task Force that works
out of that office are hardly in a posi-
tion to pursue an unlimited string of
long-term investigations.

Sources concede that both the
task force and the office as a whole
are badly understaffed and prosecu-
tors in the narcotics units are jug-
gling about twice the number of drug
cases as they would ordinarily be as-
signed. Indeed, the status of the Mel-
vin Willlams probe, which has re-
mained on the shelf for almost a
year, is dependent on such manpow-
er considerations, the sources said.

In addition, local law-enforce-
ment offictals privately express con-
cern over the long-term direction of
the federal prosecutor’s office, which
with its larger budget and its arsenal
of statutes on federal conspiracy and
continuing criminal enterprise is

best equipped to prosecute large .

drug organizations.

Breckinridge L. Willcox, the new
U.S. attorney, has repeatedly ex-
pressed interest in concentrating
more on white-collar crime and po-
litical corruption, and investigators
anticipate that a larger percentage of
narcotics cases will likely become
the responsibility of local courts.

That view has drawn some mut-
ed criticism from others in law en-
forcement, who regard Baitimore's
wholesale narcotics network as this
state’s organized crime problem,
comparable In scope, if not stature,
to the mob families of New York and
New Jersey.

“There was some feeling that for
a moment there, we were close to
delivering a knockout punch to the
large dealers, the organized crime el-
ement,” said one former law enforce-
ment official. “That may have been
too optimistic considering changing
priorities.”

Mr. Willcox, however, points out
that increased attention to white-
collar crime does not necessarily
mean a reduced emphasis on drug
enforcement.

“l think you're going to see the
numbers stay about the same, with
about half our prosecutions being
narcotics cases,” Mr. Willcox said.
“That's been and probably will al-
ways be the most important role of
this office.”

In any event, the city’s narcotics
traffickers have wasted little time.

Investigators contend that a
number of smaller, independent op-
erators have appeared in Baltimore
to fill the vacuum created by recent
prosecutions. And city police last
month raided Melvin Willlams’ Un-
derground nightclub and arrested 23
people on drug charges. ending a
four-month investigation that ap-
peared to be ailmed at keeping pres-
sure on those connected to Williams.

More important, in the short
span of time since the Willlams
probe — which cost the task force
several hundred thousand dollars
and at its height involved 20 detec-
tives — authorities have found
themselves burdened with probes of
at least two other large West Balti-
more drug rings.

One longstanding investigation
has surfaced in court records: FBI
agents and federal prosecutors for
mare than three years have been
pursuing Willlam E. “Little WHI"
Franklin Jr., a 44-year-old parolee
who was last sentenced in 1977, a
12-year prison term on heroin
charges, according to affidavits filed
in U.S. District Court.

Although  law-enforcement
sources contend that Franklin has
limited his drug involvement since
the federal investigation became
public last year, the probe remains
active, and sources say that Frank-
lin's organization remains largely in-
tact.

A second suspected West Balti-
more narcotics distributor {s also be-
ing scrutinized by narcotics investi-
gators, but law-enforcement sources
will confirm little beyond that fact.

Like the Willlams investigation,
however, both of the current probes
promise to be lengthy, costly and
complex. The trend is not lost on
drug enforcement officials, who are
aware that the city's drug traffickers
are becoming more sophisticated,
more elusive.

“There's no question that the bad
guys are learning,” says the DEA’s
Agent O'Grady. “They look at how
people are getting caught and they
move a step ahead. We have to move
with them.”

In the Willlams investigation, for
example, detectives found that the
sophisticated use of contact beepers
and pay phones had rendered obso-
lete the traditional methods of wire-
tap surveillance. Investigators in
that case were also compelled to use

a new tool — video surveillance —
to find out what was happening in-
side one group's Pimlico cutting
house.

Similarly, undercover officers
were required to perform extraordi-
nary feats of surveillance in their
probe of Clarence Meredith's east
side organization, in which Mere-
dith, a federal fugitive, avoided tele-
phones and communicated with his
lleutenants at seemingly chance
meetings in the courtyards of the
city's high-rise housing projects.

Asks veteran narcotics Detective
Gary Childs, an investigator on the
Meredith case: “Do you know how
hard it is to go undercover in the
projects and not draw any attentton?
But that's exactly what it took to get
at them.”

In their financial affairs as well,
the city narcotics traffickers are be-
coming more sophisticated, less vul-
nerable to the federal “criminal en-
terprise” statutes that allow the
government to seize real estate, au-
tos and other assets that they can
show to have been purchased with
the proceeds of a criminal enter-
prise.

“When we first got that law, we
were catching people with all kinds
of money,” recalls Major Newman, of
the city police department. “But over
time, the dealers have become more
adept at hiding assets and we're no
longer getting as much.”

Investigators have found that
suspected narcotics traffickers are
hiding their assets behind legitimate
front companies or individuals,
making it harder for agents to seize

roperty.

In the Will Franklin investiga-
tion, for example, FBI agents were
told by informants that one member
of Franklin's organization had paid
a realty manager to falsify a lien on
his newly renovated home to pre-
vent federal agents from seizing the
property. And Franklin himself al-
legedly has used such tactics to hide
his financial interest in Odeil's, a
popular nightspot on North Avenue,
according to court affidavits.

Other narcotics investigations
have linked suspected narcotics
money to a variety of Baltimore busi-
nesses and development projects.
City nightclubs and taverns, office
buildings, shopping centers, grocer-
ies, towing companies, rental prop-
erties and restaurants have all heen
linked to drug money in court papers
or are currently being scrutinized by
investigators,

“The deeper problem for the com-
munity is that a legitimate business-
man can't compete with a business
that is supported by narcotics mon-
ey,” explains Major Newman. “With
all that money being funneled
through his business, a drug traf-
ficker doesn’t have to worry about
whether he's making a profit.”

Although they concede that
greater caution on the part of the
city's top narcotics dealers is making
narcotics enforcement more expen-
sive and complex, few drug enforce-
ment officials are ready to believe
that a major dealer can operate for
any length of time without eventual-
ly being found out and prosecuted.

Says Detective Childs: “I don't
care how sophisticated or clever
their system is, there's always some-
thing that catches them. With Mel-
vin Willlams it was the beepers, with
Meredith it was the meetings in the
courtyards. . .. There's always a
weak link.”

Adds Major Newman: “We can
make a thousand mistakes, but a
dealer only has to make one.”

And yet the endless supply of
willing participants in the drug trade
— from the 17-year-old enforcers to
the middle-aged wholesalers — is a
reality that even the most optimistic
law enforcement officer accepts.

“There's so much money in
drugs,” complains the city’s Com-
missioner Robinson, “We've got to
convince these kids that there's
more to it than that. That there's no
future in dealing drugs, getting the
money quick and living the Holly-
wood life.”

The economics are overwhelm-
ing.

g“We'vc arrested kids, 16 years
old, who are making a thousand dol-
lars a week. They sit there with
thousands of dollars in jewelry on
them," says STOP squad Detective
Willlam Matthews. “How do you deal
with that?”

It's an essential truth, and by all
accounts, one that Melvin Williams
grasped years ag

In the unforglvlng strects of West
Baltimore, he could tell you, money
{s a magnet. And drug money —
obscene in its sheer quantity — be-
comes irresistible.

Community leaders, as well as
police officers, point out that the
great majority of residents in neigh-
borhoods deluged by narcotics traf-
ficking have nothing to do with
drugs or drug money. and hold little
respect or awe for those who do. Of-
ten, they become victims of that un-
derground economy.

But for others the myth endures.

Police officers saw it firsthand,
when Williams would glide through
west side streets in that black Mas-
erati Quadraporte, a $52.000 appari-
tion against a landscape of boarded-
up row houses and battered housing
projects.

“When he rode arnund in that
car, everyone knew who it was,” re-
calls Detective Matthews, shaking
his head. “You'd hear them yelling,
‘Hey. it's Little Melvin. Hey, Mel-
vin. .. . Even the younger kids knew
it.”
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